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RE: Fiscal Year 2018-1.9 Annual Financial Report
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In accordance with 2017 Wisconsin Act 59, the University of Wisconsin (UW) System contracted with an
independent auditor, Plante Maran PLLC, for its FY 2017-18 and FY 2018-19 annuai financial audit and is

providing you with thie results of our FY 2018-19 audit.

Enclosed is the UW Systemy's 2019 Annual Financial Report, including the Independent Auditor's Report,
which provides an unmeodified or "clean” opinion on our FY 2018-19 financial statements. Also enclosed
are Plante Moran's report on internal controls and compliance and a letter containing other required

audit communications with managerhent

if you have any guestions regarding the 2019 Annual Financial Report or its audit, please contact Vice

President for Finance Sean Nelson at (608) 262-7540,
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Cover Photo: University of Wisconsin-Stout students walk across campus in front of Bowman Hall and
its iconic 135-foot clock tower. Currently under renovation, Bowman Hall dates back to 1897 and is the
university's second-oldest building. The university's founder, James Huff Stout, opened the school in
1891,

Today UW-Stout Is a comprehensive, career-focused polytechnic university with an enrollment of
approximately 8,500 students. The university was the first-ever higher education recipient of the
prestigious Malcolm Baldrige Award, which recognizes achievement In areas such as leadership,
strategic planning, information and analysis, process management, and organizational performance
results. UW-Stout remains the only four-year higher education institution to win the award. The
university's students, faculty, and staff use applied learning, scientific theory, and research to solve real-
world problems, grow the state's economy, and serve society,

Located in scenic Menomonie, Wisconsin, the campus has along and rich history of providing a distinct
array of programs. Its students enjoy a 98.7% rate of finding employment or continuing their education
after they graduate. The university is proud of its industry partnerships - with nationally recognized
companies like Target, Thomson Reuters, IBM, Kohl's, and 3M - as well as its contributions to the local
and regional economy. For every $1 invested in UW-Stout, taxpayers receive $3.50 in economic
contributions. An impact study commissioned in 2016 found that, as a whole, the university contributes
$271.8 mitlion per year to the regional economy.

Photo Credit: UW-Stout
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INTRODUCTION FROM THE
PRESIDENT

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019

The University of Wisconsin System remained a
vibrant institution in fiscal year 2018-19 and
continues to play a significant role in the State of
Wisconsin and its economy. A recent economic
impact study found that the UW System
contributes $24 billion to the state’s economy
each year, which is a 23-fold return on
Wisconsin's investment in the university. The
private sector is the overwhelming beneficiary
of UW System’s economic impact, receiving
75 percent - or $18 billion - annually.

In fiscal year 2018-19, the UW System had
another strong year in delivering a quality,
accessible, and affordable education for our
students -atopicheing shared with business and
community leaders throughout Wisconsin as
part of the UW System’s All In Wisconsin tour.

Specifically:

«  The UW System enrolled more than 171,600
students across its 13 universities, including
13 branch campuses.

«  Approximately 32% of Wisconsin high school
students enrolled in a UW institution
immediately upon graduation.

«  Students of color comprised more than 16%
of UW System students.

+  Across all UW campuses, more than 36,600
associate, bachelor's, mastetr’s and other
advanced degrees were awarded, with 38%
ofthose degrees in STEM and health-related
fields.

« UW Institutions also reported research
expenditures of aver $1.1 billion.

FY 2018-2019 Annual Financial Report
Highlights

In achieving these accomplishments, the
UW System's fiscal year 2018-19 Total Net
Position decreased $70.4 million, a reduction of
1.3%. A greater understanding of the
UW System's financial picture can be gleaned by
dissecting the 2019 Annual Financial Report ata
more granular level,

Current assets minus current liabilities
represent the net working capital of the
Uw System. The working capital at year-end
represented approximately 112 days of 2018-19
operating expenses, down from 119 days at the
end of 2017-18. This reductioninworking capital
means the UW System has fewer resources 1o
address unexpected costs or to take advantage
of new opportunities, The changes within the
2018-19financial statements are often the result
of changes in financial investment markets,
federal and state legislation, and accounting
principles.

The financial markets impacted the UW System's
2018-19 financial statements, most notably
through changes in the Wisconsin Retirement




System (WRS), which is managed by the State of
Wisconsin's Department of Employee Trust
Funds (ETF). The WRS reported a Net Pension
Liability in 2018-19, with the UW System’s share
of that being $474.4 million. This is a significant
swing from our Restricted Net Pension Asset of
$399.1 million in 2017-18. The change is largely
attributable to an investment return that was
below the level anticipated by ETF and changes
in the long-term expected rate of return. ETF
previously assumed a long-term rate of return
of 7.2% but has revised that expectation to 7.0%.
With lesser earnings anticipated, the UW System
will need to contribute additional funds to the
WRS, to ensure the necessary dollars are
avallable when needed. The impact this swing
frorm an asset to a liability has on the
UW System’s Restricted and Unrestricted Net
Position is summarized in Note 13 of the 2019
Annual Financial Report.

Federal and state legislation affected a number
of items within the UW System’s 2018-19
financial statements as well.

+  The UW System's Salaries expense increased
$105.2 million between 2017-18 and
2018-19. This increase is largely accounted
for with the 2017-19 pay plan, which the Joint
Committee on Employment Relations
approved in February 2018 and allowed for
2% effective July 1st, 2018 and an additional
20 effective January 1st, 2018,

< State Appropriations increased nearly
$74.0 million in 2018-19. The 2017-19
biennial budget provided additional funding
to the UW System for such items as
outcomes based funding and the Tommy G.
Thompson Center on Public Leadership.
However, Capital Appropriations decreased
$87.5 million in 2018-19.

+  The StudentLoan Receivable balances - both
current and noncurrent - decreased by
$24.1 million in 2018-19. The federal Perkins
Loan Program ended in September 2015.
While loan payments have been received
from students, no new loans are being
issued.

Finally, the UW System implemented
Governmental Accounting Standards Board
{GASB) Statement No. 83, Asset Retirement

Obligaticns, in 2018-19. This GASB statement
requires the UW System to recognize a liability
whenthere are regulatory orlegal abligations for
decommissioning certain  capital  assets,
Uw-Madison estimates a $12.0 million future
liability for decommissioning its nuclear
research reactor and reports this amount as a
Noncurrent Liability.

Through all these changes, the UW System
continues to be guided by 2020FWD, the
strategic framework that reflects the needs and
expectations of our students, Ccitizens,
communities, and businesses. 2020FWD
recognizes that access to a quality education is
critical in supporting the economic vitality,
health, and well-being of all Wisconsin residents.
To help improve student access and success,
UW resident undergraduate tuition was frozen
for the sixth consecutive year in 2018-19. In
addition, the UW System’s plan to restructure
UW Colleges and UW-Extension - undertaken to
ensure the UW System is in a position to provide
greater access, affordability, and opportunity for
our students - was officially approved by the
Higher Learning Commission, effective july 1,
2018,

The UW System's financial position mustsupport
the 2020FWD initiatives, tuition freeze, and
transformation of our campuses, while
continuing to preserve the quality and
axceflence for which the UW System is known.
Doing so will not only benefit UW graduates but
also the State of Wisconsin,

Ray Crass, President
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Joint Legislative Audit Committee;
Members of the University of Wisconsin Board of Regents;
and Dr. Raymond Cross, President

University of Wisconsin System

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the University of Wisconsin System (the "UW System®),
an enterprise fund of the State of Wisconsin, and its aggregate discretely presented component units as of and for
the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
the University of Wisconsin System's basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management of UW System is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal controt refevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibilify

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the
financial statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units. Those financial statements were audited
by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts
included for the UW System, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that we pian and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The aggregate discretely presented component units
were not audited under Govemment Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the University of Wisconsin System and its aggregate discretely
presented component units as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows,
where applicable thereof, for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.




To the Joint Legislative Audit Committee;
Members of the University of Wisconsin Board of Regents;
and Dr. Raymond Cross, President

University of Wisconsin System

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 1, which explains that these financial statements present only the University of Wisconsin
System, an enterprise fund of the State of Wisconsin, and its aggregate discretely presented component units and
do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of Wisconsin as of June 30, 2019 and
2018 and the changes in its financial position and the changes in its cash flows, where applicable thereof, for the
years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our
opinion is not modified with respect {o this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion
and analysis, the schedule of the UW System's proportionate share of the net pension (asset) liability and OPEB
liability, the schedule of the UW System's pension and OPEB contributions, and the related notes, are to be presented
to supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We dao nat
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the UW System's financial statements. The introduction from the president on pages 4 and 5 and the supplementary
information on pages 86 and 87 are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial staternents. The introduction from the president and the supplementary infermation have not been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we do
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 16, 2019 on
our consideration of the University of Wisconsin System's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the University of Wisconsin System's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

7@4@ ¢ M, PLLe

December 16, 2019
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

Management's Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis provides an overview of the financial position and activities of
the University of Wisconsin System (University) for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, with
comparative information for the year ended June 30, 2017, where appropriate. This discussion has
been prepared by management, is unaudited, and should be read in conjunction with the financial
statements and footnotes.

The University is made up of 13 four-year universities and 13 additional campuses affiliated with seven
of the four-year institutions. In academic year 2018-2019, the University enrolled 171,636 students,
employed approximately 32,456 faculty and staff, and granted 36,690 associate, bachelor's, master’s,
and other advanced degrees. University institutions were awarded over $985.7 million in federal grants
and contracts in fiscal year 2019 and an additional $688.5 million from non-federal sponsors. The
University has a long tradition of public service, embodied by an ongoing commitment to the Wisconsin
Idea, that the boundaries of the University are the boundaries of the State., '

Degrees Granted Headcount Enreliments
UW-Madison . 11,062 UW-Madison 44,118
Uiv-Milwaukee 5,062 UW-Milwaukee 27,444
UW-Eau Claire 2,330 UW-Eou Claire 11,547
UW-Green Boy . 1,494 UW-Green Bay 8,581
UW-La Crosse 2,397 UW-La Crosse 10,579
U-Oshkosh 2776 UW-0Oshkosh 16,424
UW-Parkside 776 UW-Parkside 4,325
UW-Platteville 1,889 UW-Platteville 8,966
UW-River Falls 1,365 UW-River Falls 6,13%
UW-Stevens Point 2074 Uw-Stevens Point 9,107
UW-Stout 1923 UW-Stout 8,748
UW-Superior 547 UW-Superior 2,607
UW-Whitewater 2,995 UW-Whitewater 13,059
Total 36,690 | Total 171,636

Using the Financial Statements

The University's annual financial report includes the Statement of Net Position; the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; the Statement of Cash Flows; and the Notes to the
Financial Statements. These items are prepared in accordance with standards established by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).

The Statement of Net Position is a financial condition snapshot as of june 30, 2019 and 2018, and
includes all assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources,
with the difference between the two reported as net position. Currentassets arethose thatare available
to satisfy current liabilities inclusive of assets that will be converted to cash within one year. Current
liabilities are those that will be paid within one year. Increases or decreases in net position provide an
indicator of the improvement or erosion of the University’s financial health when considered in
conjunction with non-financial information, such as conditions of facilities and enroliment levels, Net
Position is divided into three major categories: Net Investment in Capital Assets, Restricted, and
Unrestricted. Net Investment in Capital Assets consists of capital assets reduced by the outstanding
balances of borrowings for the construction, acquisition, or improvement of those assets. Restricted
Net Position has constraints put on by external parties, such as sponsors for research and donors, or
by State Statute and Board of Regent policy as in the case of student segregated fees. Unrestricted
Net Position consists of funds that do not meet either of those definitions.

12




UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended june 30, 2019 and 2018

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents the University's operating
results as well as non-operating revenues and expenses. Operating revenues are comprised primarily
of student tuition and fees, grants and contracts, and auxiliary service activities. GASB Statement No. 35
requires that state appropriations, gifts, and investments income/loss be reported as non-operating
revenue. Public universities, including the University, are typically reliant on these revenue sources to
fulfiil their missions and, therefore, report operating expenses in excess of operating revenues. As a
result, non-operating revenues are a significant component in determining the increase or decrease In
total net positlon,

The Statement of Cash Flows summarizes cash inflows and outflows by category as relating to operating,
capltal, financing, or investing activities. Cash flow information can be used to evaluate the financial
viability of the University and its ability to meet financial obligations as they mature. Cash flows from
operating activities result from exchange transactions in which one party gives another something in
return. Cash flows from investing activities are a result of the purchase or sale of investments,
withdrawals from the leng-term investment pool, and collecting interest and dividends earned. Cash
flows from capital activities include receipts from capital grants, donor receipts specifying use for capital
assets, and activity related to debt issued for the explicit purpose of acquisition, construction, or
improvement of capital assets. Cash flows from noncapital financing activities include state
appropriations and private gifts restricted for noncapital purposes.

The Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements and
communicate information essential for fair presentation. For example, the notes convey information
concerning significant accounting policies used to prepare the financial statements, detailed
information on cash and investments, capital assets, notes and bonds payable, relationships with
affiliated organizations, and classification of net position.

In addition to this Management's Discussion and Analysis, which is required supplementary
information, the basic financial statements are followed by required supplementary information
regarding the University's pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB) obligations.

13




UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations

The University’s total net position remained stable after fiscal year 2019. As of June 30, 2019, the
University had total assets of $8.2 billion and total llabilities of $3.3 billion.

Statement of Net Position {in millions) Restated '
2019 2018 2017
Current Assets $ 2,2980 $ 23122 $ 20090
Capital Assets, Net 5,258.4 5,140.1 5,060.0
Other Noncurrent Assets 612.8 986.9 619.1
Total Assets 8,169.2 8,439.2 7.688.1
Deferred Qutflows of Resources 1,340.4 $750.5 815.1
Current Liabilities 658.6 661.2 540,9
Nancurrent Liabiligies 2,654.7 2,248.8 2,154.8
Total Liabilities 3,313.3 2,910.0 2,695.7
Deferred Inflows of Resources 836.6 849.6 359.9
Net Investment in Capital Assets 3,614.4 3,519.6 3,435.9
Restricted Net Position 1,197.6 1,600.3 1,008.7
Unrestricted Net Position 547.7 310.2 913.0
Total Net Position $ 53597 § 54301 $ 54476

Current assets minus current liabilities represents the net working capital of the University, Networking
capital decreased from $1,651.0 million at June 30, 2018 to $1,639.4 million at June 30, 2019. The net
working capital at year end represented approximately 112 days of 2019 operating expenses. This
indicates that the University could support normal operations for 112 days without additional revenues
or liguidating noncurrent assets,

In fiscal year 2018, the University elected to change the method of accounting for library holdings which
was applied retrospectively. Library holdings held as collections and not depreciating them is no longer
acommon accounting approach with other large university systems that the UW System often considers
peers. The University treats library holdings as a compasite asset and depreciate over a 15-year average
life. The fiscal year 2017 financial statements have been revised to depreciate Library Holdings and
reflect a capital asset balance and net investment in capital assets that includes a $961.0 million prior
period adjustment for accumulated depreciation.
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2018

The following table contains a summary of Current Assets which consists primarily of operating cash
and cash equivalents, securities lending collateral, accounts receivable, studentloans receivable, supply
inventories, and prepaid expenses. The largest change between 2019 and 2018 was in accounts
receivable, net, which decreased by $10.0 million.

Current Assets {in millions) 2019 2018 2017
Cash & Cash Equivalents $ 18637 $ 11,8684 $ 1.666.1
Securities Lending Collateral 109.3 106.0 —
Accounts Receivable, Net 249.0 259.0 241.6
Other Current Assets 76.0 78.8 101.3

Total Current Assets $ 22980 $ 23122 § 20090

The Board of Regents has authority to invest gifts and bequests received by the University. Through
March 2018, investments were primarily held in two investment poals: The Long Term Fund and the
Intermediate Term Fund. Effective April 1, 2018 and as permitted through Section 36.11 {11m) of the
Wisconsin statutes, the Board of Regents transferred its investment management responsibilities to
the State of Wisconsin Investment Board (SWIB). As a result of this transfer, the Board of Regents
eliminated the Intermediate Term Fund as a separate investrnent pool. The Board of Regents establishes
investment policies and guidelines, including target investment allocations. Benefiting UW entities
receive quarterly distributions from the Long Term Fund, principally endowed assets, based on an
‘annual spending rate applied to a twelve.guarter moving average market value of the Fund. A
comparison of university-controlled endowments over the past several years can be found in Chart 3
ofthe Supplemental Information section ofthis report. Additionalinformation on cash and investments
is provided in Note 2 to the Financial Statements,

Non-current assets are comprised mainly of endowment investments, capital assets (net of
accumulated depreciation), and student loans receivable. Endowment investments, valued at
$466.8 million at june 30, 2019, Increased by $47.3 million during fiscal year 2019. The increase was
driven by market-based fluctuations in investment performance. In 2018, investment earnings related
to the pension plan fiduciary net position outpaced projected earnings resulting in a net pension asset
of $399.1 million that increased non-current assets. In 2019, however, changes in actuarial
assumptions , including a reduction in the discount rate and long-term expected rate of return from
7.2%in 2018 to 7.0% in 2019, and investment earnings related to the pension plan fiduciary net position
that were below projected earnings resulted in a net pension liability of $474.4 million that increased
non-current liabilities. Deferred outflows increased by $589.9 million in fiscal year 2019, due to
adjustments related to pension and other postemployment benefit obligations.

Non-current liabilities increased by $405.9 million in fiscal year 2019. The most significant reason for
this is the adjustment to the pension plan net fiduciary net position. In 2017, the plan fiduciary net
postion increased, which was driven by an increase in investment income. This increase in fiduciary
net position reduced the net pension liability to $112.7 million at June 30, 2017. As noted above, in
2018, as investment income continued to increase, the plan fiduciary net position further increased
resulting in a net pension asset of $399.1 millicn at June 30, 2018, In 2019, however, as noted above,
changes in actuarial assumptions, and Investment earnings related to the pension plan fiduciary net
position below projected earnings resulted in a net pension liability of $474.4 million that increased
non-current liabilities,

Further, these reporting changes resulted in $153.0 million of additional pension expense being
included on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. These changes are
more fully described in Notes 1 and 8 to the Financial Statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended june 30, 2019 and 2018

Most of the unrestricted net position has been identified for purposes to fulfill the University's fiduciary
responsibilities, including academic and research programs and capital projects. Additionalinformation
related to net position can be found in Note 13 to the Financial Statements.

Capital and Debt Activities

Ofthe $5.4 billion In net position, $3.6 billion is net investment in capital assets, In an effort to maintain
quality in the University's academic and research programs and residence halls, the University has
implemented a long-range plan to fund new construction and modernize existing facilities. Capital
additions consist of new construction, replacement and renovation of academic and research facilities,
as well as significant investment in technology and equipment. Note 4 to the Financial Statements
describes the University's capitalization and depreciation palicies, and includes summarized changes
in the book value of these assets, including major construction projects completed or in progress. Note
6 to the Financial Statements describes the University's long term debt and includes summarized
information on those balances, as well as future debt service requirements.

There are four primary sources of funding for University capital projects: General Fund Supported
Borrowing (GFSB) 20-year state-issued bonds repaid with General Program Revenue (GPR); Program
Revenue Supported Borrowing (PRSB) 20- or 30-year state-issued bonds repaid with the University
program revenue; Program Revenue Cash (Cash); and cash from gift and grant funds (Gifts). State
general obligation bonds issued for the University's purpose are rated by Moody’s and 5&P Aal and
AA, respectively.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position present the University's operating
vesults as well as non-operating revenues and expenses. A summary of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes in Net Position is as fellows (in millions):

2017
2019 2018 Restated
Total Revenues $ 53020 % 51837 $ 50613
Total Expenses 5,486.1 5,168.6 5,204.9
{Loss) Income Before Capital and Endowment Additions (184.1) 15.1 {143.6)
Capital Appropriations, Contributions & Endewment Additions 113.7 188.4 126.0
(Decrease) Increase in Net Position $  (704) § 2035 §  (17.6)
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

The University’s operating and non-operating revenues are provided in the table below. Operating
revenues increased $84.6 million since fiscal year 2017 with the primary increase in non-resident tuition
and alf other operating revenues. Non-operating revenues increased $156.1 million between fiscal
year 2017 and fiscal year 2019 primarily due to changes in state appropriations, pifts, investment,
income (loss), and other non-operating revenues,

Operating Revenues (in millions): 2017
2019 2018 Restated

Student Tuition and Fees, Net $ 14023 $ 13821 % 13615
Federal Grants and Contracts 617.0 599.6 610.4
State, Local, & Private Grants and Contracts 4475 432.6 439.8
Sales and Services of Educational Activities 371.8 3195 335.6
Sales and Services of Auxiliaries, Net 433.6 445.4 4295
All Other Operating Revenues 469.0 5376 479.8

Total Operating Revenues 3,741.2 3,716.8 3,656.6

Non-Operating Revenues:

State Appropriations 883.6 838.8 808.2
Glits 395.7 370.0 378.1
Federal Pell Grants 160.0 162.7 150.9
Net Investment Income (Loss) 86.4 45,1 56.2
Other Non-Operating Revenues 351 50.3 1.3
Total Non-Operating Revenues 1,560.8 1,466.9 1,404.7
Total Revenues $ 5302.0 $ 51837 $% 5061.3

Operating expenses, classified by function, and non-operating expenses, are as follows {in millicns):

Operating Expenses: 2017
2019 2018 Restated

Instruction $ 1,4529 % 1,2576 $ 1,369.5
Research 987.1 984.5 960.5
Public Service : 364.8 298.9 306.2
Academic Support 4287 401.9 3854
Student Services 505.5 479.1 440.2
fnstitutional Support 309.1 311.6 298.5
Qperation/Maintenance 298.9 284.4 295.9
Financial Aid 243.6 257.9 247.9
Auxiliary Enterprises 359.7 363.3 363.3
Other Functions 71.0 81.2 81.3
Depreciation 327.3 324.0 315.1

Total Operating Expenses 5,348.6 5,044.4 5,073.8

Non-Operating Expenses 137.5 124.2 131.1
Total Expenses : $ 54861 $ 51686 $ 52049

One of the University's strengths has been its ability to supplement student tuition and fee revenue
and state appropriations with support from other sources, including individuals, foundations,
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Management's Discussion and Analysis
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

investment income, and government-sponsored programs (see Charts 1 and 2 in the Supplemental
Information of this report). The University continues to aggressively seek funding sources consistent
with its mission to meet operating activities in a financially prudent manner. In addition, the University
will continue to make cost containment and revenue diversification a priority. Increase in Instruction
operating expenses during fiscal year 2019 attributed to the increase in pension plan expense reported
within salary and fringe benefits expense,

Statement of Net Position adjusted for the pension and other postemployment benefit obligations as
allocated to the UW System are as follows (in millions):

Adjustment Adjustment
for Pension Adjusted for Pension Adjusted
2019 and OPEB 2019 2018 and OPEB 2018
Current Assets § 22980 % — % 22980 $ 23122 § — 3 2,312.2
Capital Assets, Net 5,258.4 —_ 5,258.4 5,140.1 — 5,140.1
Other Noncurrent Assets 612.8 —_ 612.8 986,9 3561 587.8
Total Assets 8,169.2 — 8,169.2 8,439.2 3991 8,040.1
Deferred Qutflows of Resources 1,340.4 1,284.3 56,1 750.5 699.6 56.9
Current Liabilities 658.6 — 658.6 661.2 — 661.2
Noncurrent Liabilities 2,654.7 892.1 1,762.6 2,248.8 520.1 1,728.7
Total Liabilities 3,313.3 892.1 24212 2,910.0 520.1 2,389.9
Deferred Inflows of Resources 836.6 835.9 0.7 84%.6 245.0 0.6
Net Investment in Capital Assets 36144 — 36144 3,519.6 — 3,519.6
Restricted Net Position 1,197.6 o 1,197.6 1,600.3 399.1 1,201.2
Unrestricted Net Position 5477 (443.7) 591.4 310.2 (669.5) g§7c¢.7
Total Net Position $ 53587 3% (4437) $ 58034 $ 54301 % (270.4) % 5,700.5

In fiscal year 2019, salary and fringe benefits expenses amounted to $3,551.8 million, including
$173.3 million related to the pension and other postemployment benefit obligations. Compared to
fiscal year 2018, salary and fringe benefits expenses amounted to $3,287.9 million, including
$53.5 million related to the pension and other postemployment benefit obligations.

Factors Affecting Future Periods

2019 Wisconsin Act 9, the 2019-21 biennial budget, requires continuing the freeze of UW resident
undergraduate tuition at fiscal year 2012-13 levels for fiscal years 2019-20 and 2020-21, equating to
an 8-year freeze,

Act 9 also provides the UW System with additional funding for two purposes. First, the UW System will
receive additional operating funds of $22.5 million in each year of the biennium. On August 1, 2019,
the UW Board of Regents approved a plan to distribute this funding to UW institutions using its
previously approved outcomes-based funding model. Second, the UW System will receive $1.0 million
infiscal year 2019-20 and $7.8 million in 2020-2 in Dairy Innovation Hub funding, which will be allocated
to UW-Madison, UW-Platteville, and UW-River Falls.
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University of Wisconsin System

Statement of Net Position

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Securities Lending Collateral
Accounts Receivable, Net
Student Loans Receivable, Net
Inventaries

Prepaid Expenses & Other Current Assets

Total Current Assets

Nencurrent Assets
Endowment Investments
Student Loans Receivable, Net
Other Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets, Net
Restricted Net Pensicn Asset

Total Noncurrent Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Securities Lending Collaterai Liabilities

Notes and Bonds Payable
Capital Lease Obligations
Unearned Revenue
Compensated Absences
Deposits Held for Others

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities

Notes and Bonds Payable

Capital Lease Obligations

Perkins Loan Program

Compensated Absences

Other Postemployment Benefits

Net Pension Liabliity

Capital Asset Retirement Obligation
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
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June 30, 2019

$ 1,863,664,528
109,337,546
249,038,177
27,301,006
28,503,604
20,156,386

june 30, 2018

$ 1,868,379,238
106,030,701
258,980,403
25,654,534
30,406,816
18,753,872

2,298,001,247

466,760,603
145,968,657
64,257
5,258,401,274

2,312,205,624

419,501,417
167,753,582
634,906
5,140,070,81¢
399,079,716

5,871,194,791

6,127,040,440

$ 8,165,195,038

$ 8,439,246,064

$ 1,340,373,786

$ 750,468,949

$ 186,032,029

$ 202,208,968

109,337,546 106,030,701
108,579,603 104,041,499
1,343,880 1,267,191
176,330,079 172,327,282
70,758,824 69,904,647
5,228,726 5370,176
658,610,687 661,150,464
1,510,431,676 1,491,855,415
28,022,684 28,453,963
138,736,513 138,736,513
73,415,512 69,657,569
417,694,625 520,128,222
474,419,425 —
12,009,060 —
2,654,728,895 2,248,831,682

$ 3,313,339,582

$ 2,909,982,146

$ 836,551,776

$ 849,615,429

(continued)




University of Wisconsin System

Statement of Net Pasition (continuad)

MNET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for
Naonexpendable
Expendable
Pension
Gifts, Grants & Contracts
Donor Investments & Earnings
Construction Fund
Student Loans & Federal Aid
Other
Total Restricted-Expendable
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

June 30, 2019

$ 3,614,415,650

June 30, 2018

$ 3,519,597,333

197,906,470 188,177,512
— 399,079,716
305,130,900 282,805,270
290,166,435 281,254,873
167,906,942 225,766,918
140,079,872 125,567,270
96,405,297 93,232,047
999,689,446 1.412,106,194
547,666,900 310,236,399

$ 5,359,678,466

$ 5,430,117,438

The accompanying notes to the financiol statements are an integral port of these statements.
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University of Wisconsin System
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Year ended
june 30,2018

Year ended
June 30, 2019

OPERATING REVENUES

Student Tuition and Fees (net of Scholarship Allowances of
$ 1,402,278,192 $ 1,382,132,924

$284.1 million and $263.0 million, respectively)

Federal Grants and Contracts 617,064,489 599,573,179
State, Local, and Private Grants and Contracts 447 497,191 432,616,538
Sales and Services of Educational Activities 371,841,000 319,509,820
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises (net of Scholarship
Allowances of $45.9 million ahd $39.9 million, respectively) 433,575,510 445,365,237
Sales and Services to UW Hospital and Clinics Authority 56,979,334 69,724,811
Student Loan Interest Income and Fees 4,817,658 3,479,344
Other Operating Revenue 407,053,708 464,400,716
Total Operating Revenues 3,741,207,122 3,716,802,569

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries 2,473,709,488 2,368,536,269
Fringe Benefits 604,817,990 865,846,146
Fringe Benefits Related to Noncash Pension and OPEB 173,256,249 53,479,879

Total Salary and Fringe Benefits 3,551,783,727 3,287,862,294
Scholarship and Fellowships 142,248,667 157,604,259
Supplies and Services 1,306,102,684 1,262,627,392
Other Operating Expenses 21,184,061 12,342,885
Depreciation 327,325,155 323,984,139

Total Operating Expenses 5,348,644,254 5,044,420,96%

OPERATING LOSS

NON-OPERATING REVENUES AND (EXPENSES)

(1,607,437,172)

(1,327,618,400}

State Appropriations 883,658,233 838,806,261
Gifts 395,661,321 370,022,335
Federal Pell Grants 160,031,504 162,691,351
Investment Inceme {net of Investment Expense cf $0.8 million
and $3.2 million, respectively) 86,360,332 45,052,676
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets (19,343,2009) (2,055,179}
Interest Expense on Capital Asset-related Debt (54,097,369) (50,557,057}
Transfer to State Agencies (64,134,111} (71,553,703)
Other Nonoperating Revenues 35,125,044 50,279,509
(Loss) Income Before Capital and Endowment Additions (184,171,427) 15,067,793
Capital Appropriations 54,910,058 142,359,852
Capital Grangs and Gifts 52,964,901 44,632,710
Additions to Permanent Endowment 5,857,496 1,145,488
{DECREASE) INCREASE IN NET POSITION (70,438,972} 203,505,843

NET POSITION

Net Position - beginning of period
Change in Accounting Principle

NET PQOSITION - end of period

5,430,117,438

5,447,531,396
(220,919,801)

$ 5359678466 $ 5430,117438

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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University of Wisconsin System

Statement of Cash Fows

Cash Fiows from Operating Activities

Student Tuition and Fees
Federal, State, Local, and Private Grants & Contracts
Sales and Services of Educational Activities
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises
Sales and Services to UW Hospital Authority
Payments for Salaries and Fringe Benefits
Payments to Vendors and Suppliers
Payments for Scholarships and Feltowships
Student Loans Collected
Student Loan Interest and Fees Collected
Student Loans Issued
Other Revenue

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Interest and Dividends on Investments, Net
Proceeds from Sales and Maturities of Investments
Purchase of Investments

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Proceeds fram [ssuance of Capital Debt
Payments for Debt Retirements (Refundings)
Capital Apprepriations

Gifts and Other Receipts

Purchase of Capital Assets

Principal Payments on Capital Debt and Leases
Interest Payments on Capital Debt and Leases

Net Cash Used in Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

State Appropriations
Gifts and Other Receipts
Federal Pell Grants
Transfer to State Agencies
Additions to Permanent Endowments
Student Direct Lending Receipts
student Direct Lending Disbursements
Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing
Activities

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents - beginning of year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - end of year
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Year ended
June 30, 2019

$ 1,401,491,714
1,072,871,884

Year ended
June 30, 2018

$ 1,381,081,716
1,004,312,89%

364,457,661 331,979,897
439,580,688 449,794,186
57,378,670 67,962,661
(3,359,674,494)  (3,238,489,094)
{1,329,725,067)  (1,267,897,865)
(142,248,667) (157,604,259}
35,018,216 34,860,482
4,917,698 3,479,344
(10,484,330) (38,867,000)
389,220,281 441,671,806
(1,0677,195,746) (987,815,235}
44,271,932 56,477,115
44,010,643 606,554,944
(58,967,134} (574,778,660)
29,315,441 88,253,399
128,157,292 283,953,586
— (198,809,814}
54,910,058 142,359,852
57,696,922 59,591,791
(446,705,623) (366,418,063)
{247,850,321) (213,662,660)
(143,526,616} {134,558,006)
(597,318,288) (427,144,314}

1,119,709,429
415,472,942
160,031,504
(64,134,111}
5,857,496
642,821,804
(639,275,251)

1,045,774,472
392,489,922

162,691,351
(71,553,703)
1,145,488

660,690,781
(662,240,091)

1,640,483,883

1,528,998,220

(4,714,710}
1,868,379,238

202,292,070
1,666,087,168

$ 1,863,664,528

$ 1,868,379,238

(continued)




University of Wisconsin System

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating
Activities

Operating Loss

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss to
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities:

Depreciation Expense

Changes in Assets, Liabilities and Deferred Qutflows and
inflows of Resources:

Receivables, net
Inventories
Prepaid Expense (including Deferred Charges)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Perkins Loan Liability
Unearned Revenue
Compensated Absences
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension Liability (Asset) and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Other Postemployment Benefits
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Noncash Investing, Capital and Financing Activities

Capital Leases (Initial Year):

Fair Market Value

Current Year Cash Payments
Gifts-In-Kind
Net Change in Unrealized Gains

Year ended
June 30, 2019

$ (1,607,437,172)

327,325,155

33,090,386
1,803,213
(5,367,352)
(8,540,157}
3,961,813
4,612,115
(584,769,538}
860,459,384
(102,433,597}

Year ended
June 30, 2018

$(1,327,618,400)

323,984,139

(20,274,054)
12,174,617
14,359,318

(35,977,511}

(11,207,859}

1,748,902
1,515,734
82,971,505

(21,787,360)

{7.704,266)

$ (1,077,195,746)

$ (987,815,235)

$ 712,464
120,485
4,479,936
25,525,728

The accompanying hotes to the financial statements are on integral part of these statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
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All foundations reported are legally separate, tox-exempt, affiliated campus foundaticns formed to
generate private support for the respective institutions.
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University of Wisconsin System Campus Foundations

Cansolidated Statements of Financial Position

June 30, 2019

June 30, 2018

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 41,035,732 % 157,067,432
Income and Redemption Receivables 61,807,183 26,247,913
Pledges Receivable, Net 156,683,730 175,326,722
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 19,475,078 27,002,501
Investments 4,653,845,118 4,336,283,723
Property and Equipment, Net 187,097,143 194,543,843
Real Estate 4,136,138 10,354,733
TOTAL ASSETS ' $ 5,124,080,122 % 4,926,826,967
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable $ 5,796,578 % 6,871,606
pending Investment Purchases Payable 82,648,552 54,783,240
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 30,647,335 48,696,811
Note Payahle 163,077,223 175,205,910
Liability Under Split-Interest Agreements 43,471,964 45,438,021
Funds Due to Other Qrganizations 290,753,527 282,320,826
Total Liabilities 616,395,779 613,316,414
NET ASSETS

without Donor Restrictions 194,479,484 159,146,333
With Donor Restrictions 4,313,204,859 4,154,363,620
Total Net Assets 4,507,684,343 4,313,510,553

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $

5,124,080,122

4,526,826,967

Consclidated Statements of Activities

REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT
Contributions $
Investment Return, Net of Fees
Rental Income
Other Income

Year ended
June 30, 2019

Year ended
June 30, 2018

Total Revenues, Gains and Other Support

EXPENSES
Program Expenses
Management and General Expenses
Fundraising Expenses

Total Expenses

INCREASE IN NET ASSETS

Net Assets - Beginning of Year

411,597,999 394,117,599
164,908,24% 299,710,558
9,631,027 12,512,616
9,891,446 11,322,932
596,028,721 717,663,705
341,854,160 344,567,683
23,077,436 46,167,986
36,923,335 34,448,206
401,854,931 425,183,875
184,173,790 292,479,830
4,313,510,553 4,021,030,723

Net Assets - End of Year 5

4,507,684343 §

4.313,510,553

The cecompanying notes to the financial statements are an integrol part of these statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended june 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The University of Wisconsin System (University) is a major enterprise fund of the State of Wiscansin.
The financial statements are presented in the proprietary fund financial statements of the State of
Wisconsin's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The University's financial information
presented in the CAFR has been adjusted to reflect reclassifications and adjustments which are done
to conform to reporting requirements relative to the CAFR,

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) for governments as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB). In fiscal year 2019, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 83, Certain
Asset Retirement Obligations (GASB 83) and GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt,
Including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placement (GASB 88). In fiscal year 2018, the University adopted
GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions (GASB 75).

The University’s annual report consists of three basic financial statements prepared in accordance with
GASB principles: the Statement of Net Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in
Net Position: and the Statement of Cash Flows.

The Statement of Net Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position;
and the Statement of Cash Flows have been prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The University of Wisconsin System reports as a Business
Type Activity, as defined by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements - and Manogements
Discussion and Analysis - for Public Colleges and Universities (GASB 35). Business Type Activities are those
that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services.

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position classifies the University’s fiscal year
activity as operating and non-operating. Operating revenue results from exchange transactions, such
as payment received for providing goods and services, including tuition and fees, certain grants and
contracts, sales and services of educational activities, and auxiliary enterprise revenue. Other operating
revenues include resources generated from units such as intercollegiate athletics, stadium, arena,
student health services, car fleet, stores operations, child care services, copy centers, and student
service programs such as placement, orientation, intramurals, and counseling centers.

Other operating revenues are summarized as foilows:

Year ended Year ended
june 30,2019 June 30, 2018
Athletics $ 151,308,297 $142,874,926
Student Health Services 50,146,063 49,440,477
Student Unien/Student Center 46,333,790 46,462,297
All Other Areas 159,265,558 225,623,016
Total Other Operating Revenues $ 407,053,708 $464,400,716

Certain significant revenue streams relied upon for operations are reported asnon-operating revenues,
as defined by GASB 35, including state appropriations, gifts, and investment income. The majority of
the University's expenses are exchange transactions, which GASB defines as operating expenses for
financial statement presentation. Non-operating expenses include capital financing costs and costs
refated to investment activity. .
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The Statement of Cash Flows presents the change in the cash and cash equivalents balance for the
fiscal year. Cash and cash equivalents include bank accounts and investments with original maturity
dates of 90 days or less at the time of purchase. These investments consist primarily of commercial
paper, money market funds, and U.S. Treasury bills. Investments in marketable securities are carried
at fair value as established by the major securities markets. Investments in limited partnerships are
carried at fair value based on quarterly reports from the limited partnerships’ management. Annually,
these reports are audited by independent auditors.

Financial Reporting Entity

The University Is made up of 13 four-year universities and 13 additional campuses affiliated with seven
of the four-year institutions. The University has also considered all potential component units forwhich
it is financially accountable and other affiliated organizations where the nature and significance of their
relationships, including their ongoing financial support, with the University are such that exclusion
would cause the University's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.

The decision to include a potential component unit in the University's reporting entity is based on the
criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining whether Certain Organizations are Component Units, an amendment of GASB Statement No.
14, GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity; Omnibus, an amendment of GASB Statements
No. 74 and No. 34, and GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 14. Based upon the application of these criteria, 12 campus
foundations are included in the financial statements as discretely presented component units because
they operate entirely for the benefit of the University.

Other Organizations

The financial statements do notinclude the accounts of the University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics
Authority (UWHCA), which is a separate legal organization reported as a discrete component unitwithin
financial statements of the State of Wisconsin: the University of Wisconsin Medical Foundation (UWMF),
which is a blended component unitof UWHCA; or the La Crosse Medical Health Science Consortium, Inc,,
which is a Wisconsin non-stock corporation tax exempt under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) 501(c)(3)
not meeting the criteria of a component unit. In addition, the financial statements do not include the
accounts of various legally independent and fully self-governing support organizations, such as booster
clubs and alumni groups; funds contributed to the University by these organizations are reported at
the time they are received. Note 11 describes the effect of affiliation and operating agreements with
the UWMF: UWHCA: Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (WARF), relating to the Wisconsin Institutes
for Discovery; and La Crosse Medical Health Science Consortium, Inc, had on the University’s financial
statements.

Ssummary of Significant Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

The University eliminates intra-fund assets and liabilities to prevent double counting in the Statement
of Net Position. Likewise, revenues and expenses related to internal service activities are also eliminated
in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.

Inventories consist of consumable supplies used in operations or items held for resale. Fuels are
reported at marketvalue, while other inventories held by individual institutional cost centers are valued
using a variety of cost flow assumptions that, for each type of inventory, are consistently applied from
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UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended june 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

year to year. In addition to central stores and fuels, the major types of inventories include laboratory
supplies, physical plant supplies, food service and student housing supplies, and items held for resale
by campus computer outlets.

Prepaid expenses represent payments made prior to June 30" for goods and services received after
the close of the fiscal year, primarily health and life insurance coverage, and costs associated with
revenues that have not yet been earned as of June 30", primarily summer session costs incurred prior
to the close of the fiscal year. The revenues and expenses of the 2019 and 2018 summaer sessions are
reportable within the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30, based on the prorated portion of
the number of summer session days that occurred in fiscal year 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Accounting policies related to capital assets are described in Note 4,

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the Wisconsin Retirement System {WRS) and additions to/deductions from the WRS' fiduciary
net position have been determined using the econamic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions)
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported
at falr value.

Unearned revenues consist of payments received but not yet earned as of June 30", primarily summer
session tuition payments, tuition and room deposits for the next fall term, advance ticket sales for
athletic events, and amounts received from grant and contract sponsors which have not yet been
earned under the terms of the agreement.

The compensated absences liabllity consists of accumulated unpaid annual leave, compensatory time,
personal haliday hours, and Saturday/legal holiday hours earned and vested. The University leave
policies restrict the accumulation of unused vacation and thus limit the actual payments made to
employees upon termination or retirement,

Restricted funds received as gifts, grants, and contracts are used according to donoy restrictions or the
specific purpose of the grantor. In addition, restrictions are statutorily established that limit the use of
certain resources for specific purposes. These restrictions apply not only to state support but also to
many of the University's program revenue sources, including segregated fee auxiliary operations. The
funds reported as restricted will be used in accordance with the purposes for which they are restricted
and are the first resources used for these purposes. Unrestricted funds would be used only secondarily
to support these restricted purposes.

Deferred outflows of resources, a separate financial statement element, represents a consumption of
net position that applies to future perlods and will be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/
expenditure) in those periods. The University's deferred outflows of resources are related to the net
pension asset (liability), other postemployment benefits (OPEB) liability, debt refunding and capital
asset retirement obligation. Additional information related to pensions is available in Note 8, OPEBs is
available in Note 9, and debt is available in Note 6. See Note 10 for more information regarding deferred
outflows of resources.

Deferred inflows of resources, a separate financial statement element, represents an acquisition of net
position that applies to future periods and will be recognized as an inflow of resources (decrease in
expense/expenditure) in those periods. The University’s deferred inflows of resources are related to
the net pension asset (fiability), OPEB liability, and debt refunding. Additional information related to
pensions is available in Note 8, OPEBs Is available in Note 9, and debt is available in Note 6. See Note 10
for more Information regarding deferred inflows of resources.
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NOTE 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

Student tuition and fees are presented net of scholarships and fellowships applied to studentaccounts.
Stipends and other payments made directly to students are presented as scholarship and fellowship
expenses,

Reclassifications

Certain amounts from the prior year have been reclassified. On the Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position $102.8 million has been reclassed from student tuition and fees to fringe
benefits and on the Statement of Cash Flows that same amount has been reclassed from student tuition
and fees to payments for salaries and fringe benefits to more accurately reflect the nature of these
funds. Current assets and current liabilities have beenincreased by $106.0 million to reflectinvestments
offered up as collateral and related liabilities under securities lending arrangements with the
University's investment manager. Operating loss and net position has not been affected by these
changes.,

Newly Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

Effective for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 83, Certoin
Asset Retirement Obligations (GASB 83), which establishes criteria for determining the timing and pattern
of recognition of a liability and a corresponding deferred outflow of resources for capital asset
retirement obligations. In accordance with the statement, the University has recognized capital asset
retirement obligations of $12.0 miffion as of June 30, 2019, related to decommissioning costs fora
nuclear research reactor as required by the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission. This
obligation was recognized based on the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be
incurred. The corresponding deferred outflow of resources Is amortized over the estimated remaining
useful life of the associated tangible capital asset coinciding with a licensure period through the year
2031. The University has issued a statement to the United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission of
intent to obtain funds necessary for decommissioning, when necessary. No restricted assets are set
aside for payment of the capital asset retirement obligations. June 30, 2018 amounts have not been
restated as the impact of GASB 83 is not deemed to materially impact the financial reporting for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

Effective for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 88, Certain
Disclosures Reloted to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placement (GASB 88). This statement
requires additional information related to debt be disclosed in the financial statements. The adoption
of GASB 88 has been applied retrospectively and impacts Note 6 of the financial statements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities (GASB 84), intends to improve guidance regarding the
identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those
activities should be reported. The provisions of GASB 84 are effective for fiscal year 2020.

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases (GASB 87), establishes a single model for lease accounting based on
the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. As a resuilt,
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating
leases and recognized as inflows of resources (revenues) or outfiows of resources (expenses) based on
the payment provisions of the contract. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a |ease
liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and alessor is required to recognize alease receivable
and a deferred inflow of resources. The provisions of GASB 87 are effective for fiscal year 2021.

GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Perfod (GASB
89), will enhance the relevance and comparability of information about capital assets and the cost of
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NOTE 1 - Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

borrowing for a reporting period and simplify accounting for interest cost incurred before the end of
a construction period. Paragraphs 5-22 of GASB Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and
Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, are
superseded by this Statement. The provisions of GASB 89 are effective for fiscal year 2021.

GASB Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests—An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61
(GASB 90}, aims to improve the consistency and comparability of reporting a government’s majority
equity interest in a legally separate organization and to improve the relevance of financial statement
information for certain component units. A majority equity interest that meets the definition of an
investment should be measured using the equity method, unless it is held by a special-purpose
government engaged only in fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an endowment (including
permanent and term endowments) or permanent fund. The provisions of GASB 90 are effective for
fiscal year 2020,

GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations (GASB 91), provides a single method of reporting
conduit debt obligations by issuers and aims to eliminate diversity in practice associated with
(1} commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and
(3) related note disclosures. This Statement clarifies the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation;
establishing that a conduit debt obligation Is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for
accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended
by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note
disclosures. The provisions of GASB 91 are effective for fiscal year 2022.

Management is in the process of evaluating whether these GASB statements will be applicable to the
University and the impact these statements may have on the University’s financial statements.

NOTE 2 - Cash and investments
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of shares in the State Investment Fund (SIF), a short-term
pool of state and local funds managed by the State of Wisconsin investment Board (SWIR)with oversight
by a Board of Trustees as authorized in Wisconsin Statutes Sections 25.17 (3) (b), {ba), (bd}, and (dg).
SWIB is not registered with the SEC as an investment company. The fair value of the investment inthe
SIF is based on net asset value (NAV) per share (or its equivalent), as of June 30, 2019, The SIF is a
commingled fund with the investment objective of safety of principal and liquidity while earning a
competitive money market rate of return. The valuation of the underlying investments of the SIF
depends on asset class. Repurchase Agreements and non-negotiable Certificates of Deposit are valued
at cost. All remaining short-term debt investments (U.S. Government/Agency securities, Banker's
Acceptances, Commercial Paper, and negotiable Certificates of Deposit) are carried at fair
value. Because guoted market prices for SIF securities are often not available, at month end, BNY
Mellon, as SWIB's custodial bank, compiles fair values from third party pricing services which use matrix
pricing models to estimate a security's fair value. There are no unfunded commitments relating tc the
SIF and shares of the SIF can be fully redeemed at any time with no notice or other restrictions. Further
information about the investments in the SIF can be obtained from the separately issued State
Investment Fund Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019,

Ofthe $1,863.7 million and $1,868.4 million in cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 201 9and 2018,
respectively, $1,622.4 million and $1,678.8 million, respectively, representamounts held within the SiF;
$241.3 million and $189.4 million, respectively, was maintained by individual University institutions in
local bank accounts to meet operating needs; and a small, residual amount was held at BNY Mellon to
meet the cash needs of the investing activities of the Trust Fund. Interest distributions are received on
a monthly basis for balances associated with trust funds, federal aid programs, and funds attributable
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NOTE 2 - Cash and Investments {continued)

to the appropriations listed in Wisconsin Statutes Section 20.285(1) (Li). Investment earnings for all
other funds do not accrue to the University.

Custodiol Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a
depository financial institution, the University will not be able to recover deposits that are in possession
of an outside party. The University does not have a deposit policy specifically for custodial risk. Shares
in the SIF are not required to be categorized under GASB Statement No. 40, Deposit and Investment Risk
Disclosures.

For the remaining deposits, the University had balances in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation limits totaling $234.6 million and $182.5 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
These amounts, deposited in approved financial institutions, are uninsured and uncollateralized. A
state appropriation for losses on public deposits (Wisconsin Statutes Section 34.08) insures up to
$400,000 over the amount of federal insurance.

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely
affect the fair value of a deposit. Deposits in foreign currency at June 30, 2019 and 2018 are insignificant.
The University does not have a formal policy for foreign currency risk.

Investments

The University invests its Trust Funds, primarily gifts and bequests, in accordance with the investment
policies and guidelines governed and authorized by the Board of Regents, Effective, April 1, 2018, the
Board of Regents transferred its investment management responsibilities to the State of Wisconsin
Investment Board (SWIB) as permitted through Section 36,11 (11m) of the Wisconsin statutes. The
SWIB-managed Long Term Fund has a target asset allocation to public markets of the following:
57% public equities, 20% fixed income, and 23% inflation sensitive securities. SWIB achieves these
allocations through the use of externally-managed index funds. In addition, this fund continues to have
an allocation to private markets through a “legacy” portfolio that will self-liquidate over time as
investments are sold and cash proceeds are received. The target allocations to public markets were
last affirmed/approved by the Board of Regents in April 2018.

Effective April 1, 2019, a new internally managed investment fund was established for a limited and
select number of participating Trust Funds accounts, This fund was established by the University Board
of Regents to provide educational investment management opportunity for the Uw-Madison School
of Business's Applied Security Analysis Program. The "RegentFund” is an intermediate-term fixed
incomne portfolio, governed by and subject to a University Board of Regents approved Memorandum
of Understanding, which includes detailed investment guidelines.

The SWIB-managed Long Term Fund consisted of the following actual asset allocation by investment
category on June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Investment Category 2019 2018

Global Equities 40.0% 40.7%
Treasury Inflation Protection Securities (TIPS) 17.0% 16.9%
Investment Grade Government/Credit 17.2% 16.7%
Hedged Non-U.S. Equities {Developed Markets) 5.1% 5.2%
Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITS) 2.6% 2.7%
Emerging Markets Equities 2.4% 2.3%
Private Markets' 15.7% 15,5%
Total 100.0% 100.0%

' private Markets Is not incluged in the target allocation. The Private Markets category is comprised of private equity funds of
1.P. Morgan, Adams Street Partners, and a TRG Forestry Fund.
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The RegentFund (effective as of April 1, 2019) consisted of the following actual asset allocation by
investment category on June 30, 2019 and 2018:

Investment Category 2019 2018
Fixed Income Securities 94.4% —
Short Term Investment Funds 5.6% —

Total 100.0% N/A

Benefiting University entities receive quarterly distributions from the Long Term Fund, whichisprimarily
comprised of endowed assets, based on an annual spending rate applied to a twelve-quarter moving
average market value of the Fund. The annual spending rate Is currently 4.0%. Distributions from the
RegentFund, which is primarily comprised of expendable gifts, consisted of quarterly interest earnings
distributions. Spending rate and interest distributions from both Funds are transferred to the SIF,
pending near-termexpenditures. Duringthe fiscal year ended june 30,201 9, theamount made avallable
to spend from these funds was $16.2 miilion, relative to $16.7 million available during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018,

At June 30, 2019 and 2018, the University's investments were as follows:

Investments 2019 2018 _
Equity Index Funds $ 217,973,035 § 202,240,226
Fixed Income index Funds 157,309,546 141,285,489
Real Estate Index Fund 11,724,118 11,122,064
Fixed Income Securities 6,872,652 —
Short Term Investment Funds 412,590 1,673
Private Markets Limited Partnership 72,368,222 64,851,965

Total Investments 466,760,603 419,501,417
Cash and Cash Equivalents — 98,567

Total Investments and Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 466,760,602 $ 419,599,984

The total return on the Long Term Fund, including capital appreciation, was 7.5% for fiscal year 2019
compared to 8.1% in fiscal year 2018. The total return on the RegentFund, including capital appreciation,
was 3.7% for the three manths beginning April 1, 2019 when the Fund was initiated. As of fiscal year
ended June 30, 2019, 98.4% of funds were externally managed, compared to 100.0% at fiscal year ended

2018,

Credit Risk: Credit Risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. Credit ratings issued by the major rating agencies are one indication of the perceived credit
quality of the issuer. As of Juhe 30, 2019, the University was exposed to eredit risk directly through its
singular separately-managed fixed income portfolio, the RegentFund, and indirectly through the
ownership of shares of commingled or mutual funds.
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The following schedule displays the credit ratings as provided by Moody's Investor Service for debt
securities owned as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, Obligations of the United States and obligations explicitly
guaranteed by the U.S. government are included in the Aaa rating below.

Ratings 2019 2018

Aaa $ 1,010,468 % —
Aal 235,197 _
Al 230,567 —
A2 205,230 —_
A3 1,015,456 —
Baal ‘ 930,524 —
Baa2 1,707,644 —
Baa3 833,365 —
Ba1l 273170 —
Baz 268,995 —
Ba3 129,900 —
B1 131,625 —
Unrated Bond Fund 157,309,946 141,285,489
Unrated Short Term

Investments 412,741 —_
Unratad Pooled Cash — 98,567
Totals $ 164,695,228 $%$ 141,384,056

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk related to Investments is the risk that, in the event of a failure
of a counterparty to a transaction, the University will not be able to recover the value of investment or
collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party. The University's separately-held
investment securities are registered in the name of the University. Investment securities underlying
the University's investment in shares of external investment pools or funds are in custody at those
entities. The shares owned in these external investment pools are registered in the name of the
University. The University does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude
of an organization's investment in a single issuer. Separately-managed debt/fixed income accounts that
the University held as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 were limited to holding no more than 7.0% in any one
issuer (U.S. Government/Agencies were exempted).

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair
value of an investment. The University used the option adjusted modified duration method to analyze
interest rate risk for separately-held securities. Fixed income securities held by the University as of
June 30, 2019 was expected to be within a range of two years below to one year above the effective
duration of the established benchmark's duration.
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The following schedule displays the interest rate risk statistics for individually-held debt securities
owned as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, grouped by sector.,

Fixed Income Sector 2019 2018
Effective Effective
Market Duration Market Duration
, Value {In Years) Value (In Years)
Corporate Debt $ 5,962,225 4.91 — —
Government Debt ' 1,423,057 5.32 — —
Totals $ 7,385,282 N/A

The following schedule displays the interest rate risk statistics for the commingled debt/fixed income
funds held as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, as determined by the providers of the funds.

Fixed Income Commingled Fund 2019 2018
Effective Effective
Market Duration Market Duration
Value (In Years) Value (In Years)
BlackRock U.S. TIPS Fund B $ 78,255,104 7.48 $ 71,053,725 7.66
B t/ it B
Rk i vernmen Credit Bond 79054842 659 70,231,764  6.35
Totals $157,309,946 $141,285,489

Foreign Currency Risk: Foreign currency risk Is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely
affect the fair value of an investment. The Long Term Fund held positions only in passively-managed,
indexed commingled funds which may invest in securities denominated in foreign currencies, However,
the fund used for exposure to developed market equities generally seeks to hedge againstthe variations
in returns deriving solely from the value of the foreign currencies in the fund relative to the U.S. dollar.
The fund used for exposure to emerging market equities generally does not engage in similar foreign
currency hedging efforts, due largely to the high cost and more limited efficacy of such hedging. Deposits
in foreign currency for the RegentFund at June 30, 2019 are immaterial,

Securities Lending: The University has an agreement with BlackRock Institutional Trust Company, N.A.,
which acts as custodian for the University's Long Term Fund investments and authorizes the bank to
lend securities held in the University's accounts to third parties. The bank must obtain collateral from
the borrower, or acceptable securities, When the University's securities are delivered to a borrower as
part of a securities lending arrangement, the borrower is required to place collateral with the lending
agent equal to at least 102% of the loaned securities' fair value, including interest accrued, as of the
delivery date. Both the collateral and the securities loaned are marked-to-market on a daily basis, with
additional collateral obtained or refunded as necessary. In the event that the loaned securities are not
returned by the borrower, the bank will, at its own expense, either replace the loaned securities or, if
unable to purchase those securities on the open market, credit the University’s accounts with cash
equal to the fair value of the loaned securities.

The University receives 75 percent of the net revenue derived from all securities lending activities and
the bank receives the remainder of the net revenue. Interest and dividend income reported as part of
non-operating investment income inthe Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changesin NetPosition
includes $300,867 and $97,070 earned by the University during the fiscal years ended june 30, 2019
and 2018, respectively, In conjunction with the securities lending program.
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Although the University's securitles lending activities are collateralized as described above, the
securities lending program involves both market and credit risk. In this context, market risk refers to
the possibility that the borrower of securities will be unable to collateralize the loan upon a sudden
material change in the fair value of the [oaned securities or the collateral, or that the bank's investment
of collateral received from the borrowers of the University's securities may be subject to unfavorable
market fluctuations. Credit risk refers to the possibility that counterparties involved in the securities
lending program may fail to perform in accordance with the terms of their contracts.

At june 30, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of securities loaned was $109,337,546 and $106,030,701,
respectively, while the colfateral held was $109,337,546 and $106,030,701, respectively. Collateral
received consisted of cash and non-cash collateral. The cash collateral was invested in a U.S. Dollar
Cash Collateral Pool. There was non-cash collateral received of $298,903 and $4,451,486 as of
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In accordance with accounting standardsthevalue ofthe collateral
held and a correspending liability to return the collateral have been reported on the accompanying
Statement of Net Position.

Donor-restricted endowments: For University-controlled, donor-restricted endowments, the Uniform
Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, as adopted in Wisconsin, permits the Board of Regents
ofthe Universityto appropriate, for currentspending, anamount of realized and unrealized endowment
appreciation as it determines to be prudent. Realized and unrealized appreciation in excess of that
amount appropriated for current spending is retained by the endowments. Net appreciation since
the inception of the endowment accounts of $147.1 million and $141.9 million at June 30, 2019 and
June 30, 2018, respectively, is‘available to meet spending rate distributions and is recorded as restricted
net assets,

Fair Value Measurements: The University and the Foundations categorize their fair value measurements
within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. The three levels
of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted market prices included that are observable for the asset or
liability. Matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique used principally to value debt
securities, is consistent with the market approach. The market approach uses prices and
other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or
comparable assets or liabilities,

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset and liability used to measure fair value that rely on the
reporting entity’s own assumptions.

The hierarchy Is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset and gives
the highest priority to level 1 measurements and the lowest priority to fevel 3 measurements.
Investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as
a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy.

The University and the Foundations measure the fair value of investments in certain entities that do
not have a quoted market price at the calculated net asset value (NAV) per share or its equivalent. As
these investments are not readily marketable the estimated value is subject to uncertainty, and
therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market for the investments
existed.
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As of June 30, 2019, the University's investments were measured at fair value within the fair value
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles, as well as by using the net asset
value per share or its equivalent. The following table presents these investments by investment
category.

Measured at Total

fnvestments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV June 30, 2019
Equity Index Funds $ — 3 — & — § 217,973,035 % 217,973,035
Fixed Income Index Funds — — — 157,309,946 157,309,946
Real Estate Index Fund — — — 11,724,118 11,724,118
Fixed Income Securities 1,010,467 5,962,225 — — 6,972,652
Short Term Invesiment Funds 412,590 — —_ — 412,590
Private Equity Limited Partnership — — — 72,368,222 72,368,222

Total Investments at Fair Value $ 1,423,057 $ 5,962,225 §$ — $ 459,375,321 $ 466,760,603

The equity index funds include a global equity index fund (84%) with an investment strategy designed
to track the return of equity securities traded both inside and outside of the United States. An additional
5% of this category includes an emerging markets index fund with an investment strategy designed to
track the return of equity securities in emerging markets. The remaining 11% is included in an
international currency hedged equity index fund with an investment strategy designed to track the
return of the markets in certain countries for equity securities outside of the United States while
mitigating exposure to fluctuations between the value of the currencies in the fund and the U.S. dollar.
The international and emerging markets index funds have daily liquidity with 2 days' notice, The
international hedged index fund has monthly liquidity with 2 days' notice,

The fixed income index funds category includes a corporate and government bond index fund (50%)
with an investment strategy of approximating as closely as practicable the return of anindustry standard
US Government/Credit Bond Index. The remaining 50% includes a U.S. TIPS index fund with an
investment strategy of closely approximating the return of all outstanding U.5. TIPS with a maturity of
one year or greater, These fixed income index funds have daily fiquidity with 2 days' notice.

The real estate index fund includes an investment strategy designed to track the return of publicly
traded real estate equity securities. The real estate index fund has daily liquidity with 2 days' notice,
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As of june 30, 2018, the University’s investments were measured at fair value within the fair value
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles, as well as by using the net asset
value per share or its equivalent. The following table presents these investments by investment
category.

Measured at Total

Investments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAY June 30, 2018
Equity Index Funds $ — % — 3 — % 202,240,226 $ 202,240,226
Fixed Income Index Funds — — — 141,285,489 141,285,489
Real Estate Index Fund — — — 11,122,064 11,122,064
Short Term Investment Funds e — — 1,673 1,673
Private Equity Limited Partnership — — — 64,851,965 64,851,965

Total Investments at fair value — — — 419,501,417 419,501,417
Cash and Cash Equivalents 98,567 — - — 98,567

Jotal Investments at fair value and

Cash and Cash Eqguivalents $ 98567 § — % — % 419,501,417 $ 419,599,984

As part of the investment management transfer to SWIB, Terrace Investment Holdings SMF, LLC was
created to centrally hold and manage the University's investments in private markets Limited
partnership Funds. This investment is illiquid and is generally not resold or redeemed. Distributions
from the fund will be received over the life of the investment as the underlying investments are
liquidated. The investment strategy of the limited partnership focuses globally on corporate finance,
venture capital, and forestry/agricultural investments. The fund-of-funds limited partnership is
estimated to have an average remaining life of approximately 5 years at June 30, 2019. The estimated
remaining life of the underlying investments are between 0-10 years at June 30, 2019.

The following table presents the fair value and unfunded commitments of the University's investments
in private markets Limited Partnerships Funds as of June 30:

2019 2018
Unfunded Unfunded
Investment Type Fair Value Commitments Fair Value Commitments
Private Markets Limited
Partnership Funds $ 72,368,222 $ 16,921,959 $ 64,851,965 $ 23,585,146

No further new commitments to these or other private markets funds are anticipated. The existing
positions in the private markets Limited Partnership Funds will eventually self-liquidate, as underlying
orivate investments are sold off and distributions are made to investors.
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As of june 30, 2019, the Foundations' investments were measured at fair value within the fair value
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles, as well as by using the net asset
value (NAV) per share or its equivalent. The following table presents these investments by investment

category.
Measured at Total
Investments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV june 30, 2019
Certificates of Deposit  $ — 3 224,450 — -— % 224,490
Money Market Funds 90,238,118 5,097,257 — —_ 95,335,375
Federal and State
Government Securities 3,773,313 758,210 — — 4,531,523
Equity Securities 614,355,758 —_ 2,786,503 — 617,142,667
Debt Securities 106,267,979 683,587,510 4,749,259 — 794,604,748
Bond Funds 36,549,357 1,325,940 — 407,382,999 445,258,296
Stock Funds 78,696,369 8,432,418 31,707,692  1,171,946,131  1,290,782,610
Exchange Traded Funds 98,796,013 — — — 98,796,013
Mutual Funds 408,117,081 — — — 408,117,081
Other 82,309,210 16,327,694 6,006,928 100,215,285 204,855,187
Subtotal 1,519,103,198 715,753,519 45,250,852 1,679,544,415  3,959,651,984
Alternate lnvestments
Private Equity — — — 338,027,350 338,027,350
Timber — — — — —
Real Estate — — — 240,047,755 240,047,755
Qil and Gas — — — — —
Hedge Funds — — — 73,820,203 73,820,203
Other — — — 42,297,826 42,297,826
Total investments at fair
$1,5159,103,198 §$ 715,753,519 45,250,852 $2,373,737,549 $4,653,845,118

value
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NOTE 2 - Cash and investments (continued)

As of June 30, 2018, the Foundations’ investments were measured at fair value within the fair value
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles, as well as by using the net asset
value (NAV) per share or its equivalent. The following table presents these investments by investment

category.
Measured at Total

Investments Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV June 30, 2018
Certificates of Deposit  $ — % 1,143,009 — 3 — & 1,143,009
Money Market Funds 7,658,554 7,173,453 — — 14,832,007
Federal and State
Government Securities 167,347,095 1,424,327 — — 168,771,422
Equity Securities 597,926,843 — 3,951,924 — 601,878,767
Debt Securities 523,875,740 25,768,457 — — 546,644 197
Bond Funds 316,138,548 393,146,577 — — 709,285,125
Stock Funds 184,442,284 1,250,821,616 35,416,635 — 1,470,680,535
Exchange Traded Funds 128,233,629 — — — 128,233,620
Mutual Funds 27,526,031 — e — 27,526,031
Other 1,685,250 — 4,582,677 e 6,267,527
Subtotal 1,954,833,974 1,679,477,439 43,951,236 —  3,678,262,649
Alternate Investments

Private Equity — — — 316,039,512 316,039,512

Timber — — — 5,434,478 5,434,478

Real Estate — — — 80,961,903 80,961,903

Oil and Gas — — —_ 124,785,961 124,785,961

Hedge Funds — — — 94,562,169 04,562,169

Other — —_ — 36,237,051 36,237,051
Total investments at fair
value $1,954,833,974 $1,679,477,439 43951236 $ 658,021,074 $4,336,283,723

NOTE 3 - Raceivables

Accounts receivable and student loans receivable as of June 30,2019 and June 30,2018, are summarized

as follows:

Receivables (Net)
Student Academic Fees
Grants and Contracts
Educational Activities and Other
Auxiliary Enterprises
UW Hospital Authority and

La Crosse Medical Health Science Consortium Inc.

Investment
Student Loans Receivable
State Agencies
Other Governments
Total Receivables (Net}
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2019 2018
$ 20,714,592 $ 27,520,471
75,981,697 42,463,725
43,794,645 42,426,799
10,916,210 13,677,395
7,506,582 —
95,936 867,213
173,269,663 197,408,176
23,048,258 22,375,387
66,980,257 109,549,413
$ 422,307,840 $456,388,579
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NOTE 3 - Receivables (continued)

Student loans receivable at June 30, 2019 included allowances for uncollectible loans of $7.6 million
relative to $9.1 million in the prior year. Principal repayment and interest rates of university and federal
loans vary. Federal loan programs are funded primarily with federal contributions to the University
under the Perkins loan program and a variety of health professions loan programs.

Allowances for uncollectible on all non-student loan receivables totaled $29.4 million and $22.4 million
at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The University distributed student loans through the United States Department of Education federal
direct lending program totaling $639.3 million during fiscal year 2019 and $662.2 million in fiscal year
2018. These distributions and the related funding sources are not reflected as expenses and revenues
in the financial statements. However, related cash inflows and outflows are shown in the Statement of
Cash Flows.

NOTE 4 - Capital Assets

Land, buildings, improvements (e.g., parking lots, fences, street lighting, etc.), equipment, and library
holdings are capitalized at cost at date of acquisition or acquisition value at the date of denation in the
case of gifts-in-kind. Generally, capital equipment is defined as any single asset with a minimum value
of $5,000 and having a useful life of more than one year. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets: buildings over 40 years, improvements
over 20 years, and capital equipment over periods ranging from 3to 15 years forspecified assetclasses,
The componentized methodology of depreciation is used for major research facilities generally using
estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 50 years. The buildings and land related to the 13 additional
campuses are not owned by the University and thus are not reported in these financial statements,
The University does not capitalize works of art or historical treasures that are held for exhibition,
education, research, and public service, These collections are neither disposed of far financial gain nor
encumbered in any way. Proceeds from the sale, exchange, or other disposal of any item belonging to
a collection of works of art or historical treasures must be applied to the acquisition of additional items
for the same collection.

GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for
Insurance Recoveries, establishes accounting and financial reporting standards for a capital asset that
has experienced a significant, unexpected decline in its service utility. No individual asset met these
criteriain fiscal year 2019 or 2018. Insurance recoveries received infiscaiyear 2019 included$1.5million
for legal settlement costs to resolve loan obligations of the University of Wiscensin - Oshkosh
Foundation. Insurance recoverles received for a building fire at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee
in fiscal year 2019 included $1.7 million and in fiscal year 2018 included $3.0 million. [nsurance
recoveries are reported as other non-operating revenues in the financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 51, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intangible Assets, establishes accounting
and financial reporting standards for an intangible asset that lacks physical substance, is nonfinancial
in nature, has a useful life extending beyond one year, and is not acquired or created primarily for the
purpose of directly obtaining income or profit. Intangible assets are capitalized with a minimum value
of $1.0 million and are Included in the equipment balance. Depreciation for intangible assets is
calculated on a straight-line basis over ten years, At June 30, 2019, the equipment balance includes
$29.6 million for intangible assets net of depreciation, compared to $31.8 million at June 30, 2018.

Depreciation expense for fiscal years ended june 30, 2019 and 2018 was $327.3 miilion and
$324.0 million, respectively.
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NOTE 4 - Capital Assets (continued}

During both fiscal year 2018 and 2019, several major construction projects were in progress including
the following projects with a budget of $50.0 million or more:

Approx.
uw Primary Budget Primary Funding

Instifuticn  Project Purpose (in millions) Sources

Madison Chemistry Building Addition and Renovation Academic % 93.8 GFSB/Gifts/Cash

Madison Music Perfermance Building Academic 55.8 Gifts

Madison New South Fast Recreational Facility (SERF} Student Life 96.5 PRSB/Gifts

Madison Witte Residence Hall Renovation Student Life 52.8 PRSB/Cash
Milwaukee NWQ Renovaticn Academic 52.1 GFSB/PRSB/Cash
Platreville Sesquicentennial Hall Acadermic 55.2 GFSB/PRSB

During fiscal year 2019, several new major construction projects were initiated and in progress including
the following projects with a budget of $50.0 million or more:

Approx.
uw Primary Budget Primary Funding
Institution Proiect Purpose (in millions) Sources
Madison Gymnasium/Natatorium Replacement, Student Life N 126.3 PRSB/Gifts
Madison Sellery Residence Hall Addition and Renovation Student Life 78.8 PRSB/Cash
Madison Veterinary School Addition and Renovation Academic 128.1 GFSB/Gifts
Milwaukee Chemistry Building STEM Program Renovation Academic 128.5 GFSB

No major construction projects were completed during fiscal year 2019, Several construction projects
were completed during fiscal year 2018, including the following projects with $50.0 million or more in
actual expenditures:

Approx,
uw Primary Budget Primary Funding
institution Project Purpose (in millions) Sources
La Crosse Science Lab Building Academic 4 82.0 GFSB
Stevens Point Chemistry-Biology Building Academic 75.2 GFSB/Cash
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NOTE 4 - Capital Assets {continued)

The change in book value from July 1, 2018 to june 30, 2019 is summarized as follows:

Buildings
Improvements
Land

Construction in
Progress

Equipment
Library Holdings
Subtotal

Book Value Book Value

July 1, 2018 Additions Transfers Deductions June 30, 2019
$ 7062816725 $ 40,450,166 $ 43,097,020 $ (5163,309) $ 7,141,200,802
499,845,821 3,698,802 11,160,245 — 514,704,868
157,018,407 — 1,193,684 — 158,212,091
483,350,447 291,458,401 (38,536,303) (1,879,839} 734,392,706
1,198,593,663 83,136,425 16,988,101 (134,418,143) 1,164,300,050
1,122,852,150 19,004,117 - (14,786,471} 1,127,069,796

$ 10,524,477,213 $ 437,747,915

Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Buildings
Improvements
Equipment
Library Holdings

Total Accumulated
Depreciation

Capiial Assets, Net

$ 33,902,747 % (156,247,562} $ 10,839,880,313

Book Value Book Value
July 1, 2018 Additions Transfers Deductions June 30, 2019
$3,200,667,236 § 212,247,003 § — % {(54,000) $3,412,860,239

306,836,915 16,608,117 — 54,000 323,499,032
909,494,310 76,258,182 95,628 {115,561,668) 870,286,454
967,407,933 22,211,853 — (14,786,472} 974,833,314
5,384,406,394 327,325,155 95,628 (130,348,138) 5,581,479,035
$5,140,070,819 $ 110,422,760 $ 33,807,119 §$ (25899424) $5,258401,274

The change in book value from july 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 is summarized as follows:

Buildings
Improvements
Land

Construction in
Progress

Equipment
Library Holdings
Subtotal

Book Value Book Value
July 1, 2017 Additions Transfers Deductions June 30, 2018
$ 7,004,935,050 $ 25132675 $ 32,749,000 $ — % 7.062,816,725

494,475,057 6,728,562 (1,357,798) — 499,845,821

156,977,401 41,006 — — 157,018,407
231,043,044 296,902,210 (44,594,807) - 483,350,447
1,173,081,591% 73,028,929 (397,531) 47,118,926y  1,198,593,663
1,120,151,973 18,785,575 {131,161) (15,954,237}  1,122,852,150

$10,180,664,116 $

Less Accumulated Depreciation:

Buildings
Improvements
Equipment
Library Holdings

Total Accurnulated
Depreciation

Canpital Assets, Net

420,618,857 %

(13,732,697} $

(63,073,163) $10,524,477,213

Book Value Book Value
July 1, 2017 Additions Transfers Deductions june 30, 2018
$2,990,349,607 % 210,317,629 $ — 3 — $3,200,667,236

290,336,788 16,500,127 — — 306,836,915
879,006,132 74,784,262 — (44,296,084) 909,494,210
960,980,050 22,382,121 — (15,954,238) 967,407,933
5,120,672,577 323,984,139 — {60,250,322)  5,384,406,394
$5,059,991,530 $ 06,634,818 $ (13,732,697) $  (2,822,841) $5,140,070,819
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MOTE 5 - Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, consisting of salary and fringe benefits, due to state agencies
and other governments, and vendor payables, resulting from University's activities as of June 30, 2019
and 2018, are summarized as follows:

Fiscal Year 2019

Due to State

Salaryand  Agencies and
Fringe Other Total
UW System Activities Benefits Governments Vendors Payables
Operating $ 30,149,999 $ 58,506,363 §$ 22579737 $ 111,236,099
Gifts, Grants, and Contracts 1,455,253 5,241,665 8,062,457 14,759,375
Capital Projects — 433,548 52,650,616 53,084,164
Auxiliary Enterprises 1,550,972 2,374,686 2,392,648 6,318,306
Investment and Other 20,983 355,977 257,125 634,085
Total Activities $ 33,177,207 $ 66,912,239 $ 85942583 $ 186,032,029
Fiscal Year 2018 Due to State
salaryand  Agencies and
Fringe Other Total
UW System Activities Benefits Governments Vendors Payables
Operating $ 7,496,656 & 72,078,877 § 42,072,092 $ 121,647,625
Gifts, Grants, and Contracts 1,515,017 2,650,211 11,091,338 15,256,566
Capital Projects — 433,548 43,703,664 44,137,212
Auxiliary Enterprises 1,640,202 1,007,630 7,204,418 4,852,250
Investment and Other 25,126 372,319 10,917,870 11,315,315
Total Activities $ 10,677,001 $ 76,542,585 $ 114,589,382 $ 202,208,968

Long-term liability activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Long-term Liabilities Balance Increases Balance Current
2019 July 1, 2018 {Decreases) june 30, 2019 Portion
Bonds Payable $1,537,060,900 $ 13,265,022 $1,551,225922 % 92,912,219
Notes Payable 57,936,014 10,848,743 68,784,757 16,666,684
Capital Lease Obligations 29,721,154 (354,590} 29,366,564 1,343,880
Perkins Loah Program 138,736,513 — 138,736,513 —
Compensated Absences 139,562,216 4£612,120 144,174,336 70,758,824
Net Pension Liahility — 474,419,425 474,419,425 —
Other Post-employment Health 315,687,625 (78,483,611) 237,204,014 —
Other Postemployment Life 204,440,597 (23,949,986) 180,490,611 o
Capital Asset Retirement
Obligations — 12,009,060 12,009,060 —
Total $2,424,045019 $ 412,366,183 $2.836411,202 $ 181682307
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NOTE 5 - Liabilities (continued)

Long-term Liabilities Balance Increases Balance Current

2018 July 1, 2017 (Decreases) June 30, 2018 Portion
Bonds Payable $1,520,059,406 $ 17,901,494 $1,537,960,900 $ 89,063,565
Notes Payabie 77,348,912 (19,412,898) 57,936,014 14,977,834
Capital Lease Obligations " 30,958,503 (1,237,349) 29,721,154 1,267,191
Perkins Loan Program 149,544,372 {11,207,859) 138,736,513 —
Compensated Absences 138,046,481 1,515,735 139,562,216 69,904,647
Net Pension Liability 112,698,659 (112,698,659) —_ —
Other Post-employment Health 289,642,369 26,045,256 315,687,625 —
Other Post-employment Life — 204,440,597 204,440,597 —
Total $2,318,608702 $ 105,346,317 $2424045019 $ 175,213,337

NOTE 6 - Long Term Debt

The State of Wisconsin issues general obligation bonds and notes on behalf of its constituent agencies,
including the University, the proceeds of which are used to construct or acquire facilities and other
capital assets. The University holds title to the assets thus acquired. As an enterprise fund of the State
of Wisconsin, the University reports on its Statement of Net Position the portion of the debt that will
be repaid with program revenues generated by the University’s seif-supporting operations. Bebt on
academic facilities that is repaid by an appropriation from the State of Wisconsin to the University for
that purpose is reported by the State of Wisconsin and not as an obligation of the University. However,
cash inflows and outflows are shown in the Statement of Cash Flows.

The reported bond balance at June 30, 2019 does not include bonds considered in-substance defeased
with a principal balance of $62.7 million and premium balance of $2.7 million. The related bonds are
not yet callable, but cash has-been put in escrow to pay the related principal payments until May 2028,
at which time the bonds will be called.

The following information is the University’s proportionate share of the new bends issued by the State
of Wisconsin during the fiscal years of 2019 and 2018:

2019 Maturity Initial

Series Interest Rate Fiscal Year Amount Use
2018-B (Bond) 5.00 % 2039 $ 91,722,960 Capitalized Projects
2019-A (Note) 1.55% - 2.00% 2038 25,670,036 Capitalized Projects

$ 117,352,896

2018 Maturity Initial

Series Interest Rate  Fiscal Year Amount Use
2017-B 4.00% - 5.00% 2038 $ 20,837,841 Capitalized Projects
20171 2.00% - 5.00% 2031 79,412,816 Refunding
2017-2 5.00% 2028 66,149,401 Refunding
2017-3 4.00% - 5,00% 2034 34,164,650 Refunding
2018-A 4.00% - 5.60% 2036 55,957,843 Capitalized Projects

$ 256,522,551
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NOTE 6 - Long Term Debt (continued)

The following information relates to the status of bonds and notes payable outstanding atJune 30, 2019:

Balance New Debt/ Principal Paid/ Balance
July 1, 2018 Accretion Adjustments  June 30, 2019
Bonds (Gross) $ 1,409,430,357 $ 91,722,960 $ (65900,564) $ 1,435,252,753
Notes 57,936,014 25,670,036 (14,821,293) 68,784,757
Total ¢ 1,467,366,371 $ 117,392,996 $ (80,721,857) $ 1,504,037,510

The bonds have maturity dates ranging from Navember 1, 2019 to May 1, 2042. The notes have maturity
dates ranging from August 1, 2019 to May 1, 2€38. Interes{ rates range from 1.0% to 7.0%.

As of June 30, 2019, the current and noncurrent bonds and notes payable net of discounts and premiums
totaled $109.6 million and $1,510.4 million, respectively.

Balance
June 30, 20192 Current Noncurrent
Bonds (Gross) $ 1,435,252,753 % 71,478,228 §% 1,363,774,525
Discount (235,083} (22,313) (212,770)
Premium 116,208,252 21,457,004 04,751,248
Bonds (Net) 1,551,225,922 92,912,919 1,458,313,003
Notes 68,784,757 16,666,684 52,118,073
Total $ 1,620,010,679_ S 109,579,603 $ 1,510,431,076

The following information relates to the status of bends and notes payable outstanding atjune 30, 2018:

Balance New Debt/ Principal Paid/ Balance
July 1, 2017 Accretion Adjustments June 30, 2018
Bonds {Gross) $ 1,404433,151 3 76,795,685 $ (71,798,479) $ 1,408,430,357
Notes 77348912 — (19,412,898) 57,936,014
Total $ 1481782063 $ 76,795,685 % (81.211370 $§ 146736637

The bonds have maturity dates ranging from November 1, 2018 to May 1, 2042. The notes have maturity
dates ranging from August 1, 2018 to May 1, 2022. Interest rates range from 0.8% to 7.0%.

As of June 30,2018, the currentand noncurrent bonds and notes payable netof discounts and premiums
totaled $104.0 million and $1,491.9 million, respectively.

Balance
June 30, 2018 Current Noncurrent
Bonds (Gross) $ 1,409,430,357 % 66,047,036 % 1,343,383,321
Discount {186,550) (15,809) (170,781)
Premium 128,717,133 23,032,338 105,684,795
Bonds (Net) 1,537,960,900 89,063,565 1,448,897,335
Notes 57,936,014 14,977,934 42,958 080
Total $ 1,595896,914 $ 104041499 _ ¢ 1.491.855415
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NOTE 6 - Long Term Debt (continued)

Future debt service requirements for bonds and notes outstanding at June 30, 2019 are as follows:

Fiscal Bonds Notes
Year(s) Principal Interest Principal Interest
2020 $ 71,478,228 % 68,272,129 % 16,666,684 $ 2,996,438
2021 68,163,866 63,728,238 19,300,848 2,305,681
2022 71,898,701 60,163,506 7,147,188 1,376,292
2023 77,610,183 56,633,955 — 1,026,801
2024 03,824,295 52,823,147 — 1,026,801
2025-2029 463,733,220 197,623,328 — 5,134,007
2030-2034 403,412,329 92,847,123 — 5,134,007
2035-2039 155,281,931 28,808,195 25,670,037 3,915,388
2040-2044 29,850,000 2,262,275 — —
Total $ 1435252753 % 623,161,896 & 68,784,757 $ 22915415

Asnoted above, debtonacademicfacilities thatis repaid by an appropriation from the State of Wisconsin
to the University for that purpose is reported by the State of Wisconsin and not as an obligation of the
University. As of June 30, 2019, the principal balances of such bonds and notes were $1,314.8 million
and $116.9 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2018, the principal balances of such bonds and notes
were $1,420.1 million and $140.8 million, respectively. Debt service payments made by the State of
Wisconsin for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were allocated as follows:

2019 Bonds Notes

Principal $ 109055689 $ 33,539,843
Interest 70,177,266 2,696,967
Total Paid $ 179232955 & 36236810
2018 Bonds Notes

Principal $ 110,729,177 $ 28,954,785
Interest 65,995,945 1,288,305

Total Pald $ 1767251422 % 30,243,000
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NOTE 7 - Lease Commitments

The University had capital lease obligations with a net present value of $29.4 million as of June 30, 2019
compared to $29.7 million at June 30, 2018, The payment schedule for capital lease obligations is as

follows:

Fiscal Year(s) Obligations
2020 $ 3,461,099
2021 3,214,723
2022 2,889,275
2023 2,604,376
2024 2,488,774
2025 - 2029 12,398,970
2030 - 2034 12,363,920
2035 - 2039 12,363,219
2040 - 2044 9,891,136

Total Scheduled Lease

Payments 61,676,192

Amount Representing Interest (32,309,628)

Net Present Value $ 20,366,564

Assets Held Under Capttal Lease:

Accumulated

june 30, 2019 Original Cost Depreciation Book Value
Bulldings and Improvements $ 26,286,500 % 4,026,804 $ 257255606
Equipment 2,266,856 1,186,453 1,080,403

Total Assets $ 31,553,356 % 5,213,347 $ 26,340,009

Accumulated

June 30, 2018 Original Cost  Depreciation Book Value
Buildings and Improvements $ 29,286,500 $ 3,204,731 $ 25,991,769
Equipment 3,028,946 1,848,744 1,180,202

Total Assets $ 32315446 §$ 5143475 § 27,171,871

Facilities and equipment rented through operating leases are not recorded as assets on the halance
sheet, Operating lease expenditures, which also represent the minimum rental payments, amounted

to $36.8 million for the fiscal year ended june 30, 2019,
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NOTE 7 - Lease Commitments {continued)

Minimum commitments for future operating lease payments are as foliows:

Fiscal Year(s) Commitments

2020 $ 24,891,485
2021 23,198,763
2022 20,036,052
2023 15,124,559
2024 14,811,864
2025 -2029 63,737,587
2030 - 2034 : 56,545,862
2035 - 2039 35,931,283
2040 - 2044 24,714,000
2045 - 2049 14,820,000

Total $ 203 811.465

NOTE 8 - Retirement Benefits

Plan Description. The Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) is a cost-sharing multipie-employer defined
benefit pension plan. WRS benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the
Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is
administered by the Wiscansin Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides
coverage to all eligible State of Wisconsin, local government and other publicemployees, Allemployees,
initially employed by a participating WRS employer on of after July 1, 2011, expected to work at least
1,200 hours a year (880 hours for teachers and school district educational support employees) and
expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate
in the WRS.

ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found at
http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm

All assets of the WRS are invested by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The retirement fund
assets consist of shares in the Variable Retirement Investment Trust and the Core Retirement
investment Trust. The Variable Retirement investment Trust consists primarily of equity securities. The
Core Retirement Investment Trust is a balanced investment fund made up of fixed income securities
and equity securities. Shares in the Core and Variable Retirement [nvestment Trust are purchased as
funds are made available from retirement contributions and investment income, and sold when funds
for benefit payments and other expenses are needed.

Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for
a retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1950 and on or after April 24,1998, and prior to
July 1, 2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after
july 1, 2011, must have five years of creditable service to be vested.

Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupations and 62 for
elected officials and executive service retirement pian participants, if hired on or before 12/31/2016)
are entitled to a retirement benefit based on aformula factor, their final average earnings, and creditable
service.

Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest annual earnings periods.
Creditable service includes current service and prior service for which a participant received earnings
and made contributions as required, Creditable service also includes creditable military service. The
retirement benefit will be calculated as a money purchase benefit based on the employee’s
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NOTE 8 - Retirement Benefits {continued)

contributions plus matching employer's contributions, with interest, if that benefit is higher than the
formula benefit.

Vested participants may retire at or after age 55 (50 for protective occupations) and receive an
actuarially-reduced benefit. Participants terminating covered employment prior to eligibility for an
annuity may either receive employee-required contributions plus interest as a separation benefit or
leave contributions en deposit and defer application until eligible to receive a retirement benefit.

The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.

Post-Retirement Adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment parformance in accordance with
s, 40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase {or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system's consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or
other similarfactors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases.
By law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount {the
“floor") set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are
as follows:

Variable

Core Fund Fund
Year Adjustment  Adjustment
2008 6.6% 0%
2009 (2.1)% (42)%
2010 (1.3)% 22%
2011 (1.2)% 11%
2012 (7.0)% (7Y%
2013 {9.6)% 9%
2014 4.7% 25%
2015 2.5% 2%
2016 0.5% {5)%
2017 2.0% 4%
2018 2.4% 17%

Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation In accordance
with Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the
actuarially determined contribution rate for General category employees, including Teachers,
Executives and Elected Officials. Starting on January 1, 2016, the Executives and Elected Officials
category was merged into the General Employee Category. Required contributions for protective
employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are required to contribute the
remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not pay the employee
required contribution unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining agreement.
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During the reporting period, the University's contributions recognized by the WRS amounted to
$137.0 million and $134.5 million, respectively. Contribution rates as of june 30, 2019 and 2018 were:

Employee Category June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Employee Employer Employee Employer
General {including teachers) 6.7% 6.7% 6.8% 6.8%
Executives & Elected Officials 6.7% 6.7% 6.8% 6.8%
Protective with Social Security 6.7% 10.7% 6.8% 10.6%
Protective without Social Security 6.7% 14.9% 6.8% 14.9%

Pension Assets, Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions. At june 30, 2019, the University reported a net
pension liability of $474.4 million for its proportionate share of the net pension liability, compared to
the net pension asset of $399.1 million at June 30, 2018. The net pension liability was measured as of
December 31, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017 rolled forward to December 31, 2018.
No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date
and the measurement date. The University's proportion of the net pension liability was based on the
University's share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating
employers. At December 31, 2018, the University’s proportion was 13.3%, which was a decrease of
0.1% from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2017. At December 31, 2017, the University's
proportion was 13.4%, which was a decrease of 0.1% from its proportion measured as of
December 31, 2016.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 and june 30, 2018, the University recognized pension expense
of $317.7 million and $170.2 million, respectively.

AtJune 30,2019, the University reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

June 30, 2019 of Resources of Resources

Difference Between Expected and

Actual Experience $ (283,643,792} $ 369,500,896 $ (653,144,688}
Change in Proportion {892,678) 1,137,227 (2,029,505)
Employer Contributions Subsequent

ta Measurement Date 102,270,078 102,270,078 ——
Net Difference Between Expected

and Actual Earnings 652,857,041 692,857,041 —
Assumption Changes 79,969,783 79,969,783 —
Total $ 590,560,432 $ 1,245,735,025 % (655,174,593}
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AtJune 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

June 30, 2018 of Resources of Resources

Difference Between Expected and

Actual Experience $ 269,863,896 % 507,040,745 % (237,176,849)
Change in Proportion (4,941,443) 25,064 (4,966,507}
Employer Contributions Subseguent

to Measurement Date 74,807,123 74,807,123 —_
Net Difference Between Expected

and Actual Earnings (548,497,947} — {548,497,947)
Assumption Changes 78,850,365 78,850,365 —
Total $ (129,918,006) $ 660,723,297 % (790,641,303)

The amount reported as pension-reiated deferred outflows resulting fromthe University's contributions
subsequent to the measurement date is recognized as part of the net pension liability calculation in
the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pension benefits will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
June 30, 2019 of Resources of Resources
2020 5 490,900,120 % (315,496,801)
2021 262,834,008 (218,063,660}
2022 254,203,153 {176,200,788)
2023 135,527,664 54,586,657
2024 — —
Totals $  1,143,464,945 % (655,174,592)

Additional information related to deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources is
presented in Note 10,
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Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2017, and the total pension
asset in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuations were determined using the following fiscal year
2019 and 2018, respectively, actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement.

2019 2018

Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016
Measurement Date of Net Pension

Asset/viability December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Entry Age
Asset Valuation Method: Fair Value Fair Value
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: ~ 7.0% 7.2%
Discount Rate: 7.0% 7.2%
Salary Increases: .

Inflation 3.0% 3.2%

Seniority/Merit 0.1% - 5.6% 0.2% - 5.6%
Mortality: Wisconsin 2018 Mortality Table Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table
Post-Retirement Adjustments® 1.9% 2.1%

* No post-retirement adjustment Js guaranteed. Actual adjustments are bosed on recognized fnvestment return, actugrio!
experience and other factors. 2.1% Is the assumed annual edjustment bosed on the investment return assumption and the
post-retirement discount rate.

Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2018 that covered athree-year
period from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017. Based on this experience study, actuarial
assumptions used to measure the total pension liability changed from prioryear, including the discount
rate, long-term expected rate of return, post-retirement adjustment, wage inflation rate, mortality and
separation rates. The total pension liahility for December 31, 2018 is based upon a roll-forward of the
liability calculated from the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation. '

Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
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Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns
Fiscal Year Ended

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 june 30, 2018

Long-Term

Expected Long-Term Long-Term

Nominal Expected Expected

Asset Rate of Real Rate of Asset Real Rate of

Core Fund Asset Class | Allocation%  Return % Return %  Allocation%  Return %
Global Equities 49.0% 8.1% 5.5% 50.09% 5.3%
Fixed Income 24.5% 4.0% 1.5% 25.0% 1.4%
Inflation Sensitive Assets 15.5% 3.8% 1.3% 16.0% 1.0%
Real Estate 9.0% 6.5% 3.9% 8.0% 3.6%
Private Equity/Debt 8.0% 9.4% 6.7% 8.0% 0.5%
Multi-Asset 4.0% 6.7% 4.1% 4.0% 3.6%
Total Core Fund 110.0% 7.3% 4.7% 111.0%
Variable Fund Asset Class
U.S. Equities 70.0% 7.6% 5.0% 70.0% 4.6%
International Equities 30.0% 8.5% 5.9% 30.0% 4.9%
Total Variable Fund 100.0% 8.0% 5.4% 100.0%

New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (!nflation) Forecast: 2.5%

Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges; target percentages may differ from actual monthly allocations

Single Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 7.0% was used to measure the total pension liability,
as opposed to a discount rate of 7.2% for the prior year. This single discount rate is based on the
expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.0%. Because of the unique structure of WRS,
the 7.0% expected rate of return implies that a dividend of approximately 1.9% will always be paid. For
purposes of the single discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The
projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments (including expected dividends) of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the University’s proportionate share of the net pension (asset)/liability to changes
in the discount rate. The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net pension
(asset)liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.0 percent and 7.2 percent for the fiscal years
ended June 30, 2015 and 2018, respectively, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the
net pension {asset)/liability would be if it were calculated using a discount ratethatis 1-percentage-point
lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate for fiscal years ended June 30,2019 and 2018:

1% Decrease in Current 1% Increase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate
June 30, 2019
Discount Rate 6.00 % 7.00 % B.00 %

Net Pension Liability/(Asset) $ 1,885,392,486 $ 474419425 § (574,748,485)

June 30, 2018
Discount Rate 6.20 % 7.20 % 820 %
Net Pension Liability/(Asset) $ 1,032,555,481 $ (399,079,716) ${1,487,166,756)

Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net
positionis available in separately issued financial statements available at hitp://etf.wi.gov/publications/
cafr.htm ‘

Other Retirement Benefits

In addition to the WRS, certain employees assoclated with federally funded activities are partially
covered by the Federal Retirement Program. The University's contributions to this program totaled
$51,961 during fiscal year 2019, compared with $58,806 during fiscal year 2018.

NOTE 9 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions establishes standards for recognizing and measuring
liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and expense/expenditures in
financial reports of state and local governmental employers. GASB statement 74, Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other than Pension Plans, establishes reporting standards for other
postemployment benefits included in the general purpose external financial reports of state and local
governmental OPEB plans,

Under Chapter 40 of Wisconsin Statutes, the Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF) and Group
Insurance Board (GIB) have statutory authority for program administration and oversight of
postemployment benefits. ETF administers postemployment benefit plans other than pension plans
for the Retiree Life Insurance and Retiree Health Insurance plans (for retired state employees).
University employees are employees of the State.

ETF issues publicly available financial reports that include financial statements, additional note
disclosures, and required supplementary information for these plans. The reports are available at
www.etf.wigoy or may be obtained upon request from: Department of Employee Trust Funds,
4822 Madison Yards Way, Madison, Wisconsin 53705-9100.

The State of Wisconsin Comprehensive Annual Financial Report includes financial statements,
additional note disclosures, and required supplementary information for this plan. That report is
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publicly available at www.doastatewlus or may be obtained by writing to: Department of
Administration, 101 East Wilson Street, Madison, Wisconsin 53703,

Basis of Accounting. The OPEB plans are reported in accordance with GASB standards and accounted
for using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The
OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, OPEB expense, and
fiduclary net position, if any, have been determined on the same basis. Benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit terms. Investments, if any, are reported at fair value.

Retiree Life insurance Funds

The State Retiree Life Insurance Fund is considered a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan. GASB
standards classify the State Retiree Health Insurance program as a single-employer defined benefit
OPEB plan with multiple participating employers, which includes the State, the University, and other
component units of the State. The plan is administered through a trust.

The plans provide postemployment life insurance coverage to all eligible employees of participating
employers. The plans are established by Wisconsin Statutes Chapter 40.70. ETF contracts with Securian
Financial Group, Inc. (Securian) as a third party administrator for the Retiree Life Insurance plans, Benefit
terms may be modified by the GIB, subject to state and federal legislative constraints,

Generally, members may enroll during a 30-day enroliment period after their date of hire. Members
may also enroll after the initial 30-day enroliment period with evidence of insurability. Members under
evidence of insurability enrollment must enrofl in group life insurance coverage before age 55 to be
eligible for Basic or Supplemental coverage.

Contributions, The GIB approves contribution rates annually, based on recommendations from the
insurance carrier, Recommended rates are based on an annual valuation, taking into consideration an
estimate of the presentvalue of future benefits and the present value of future contributions, A portion
of employer contributions made during a member's working lifetime funds a post-retirement benefit.

Employers are required to pay the following contributions for active members to provide them with
basic coverage after age 65. There are no employer contributions for pre-65 annuitant coverage. All
contributions are actuarially determined. Contribution rates as of June 30, 2019 are:

Coverage Type Employer Contribution
50% post-retirement coverage 28% of employee contribution
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Employee contributions are based upon nine age bands through age 69 and an addlitional eight age
bands for those age 70 and over. Participating employees must pay monthly contribution rates per
$1,000 of coverage until the age of 65 (age 70 if active). The employee contribution rates in effect for
the year ended December 31, 2018 are as listed below:

Attained Age Basic Supplemental
Under 30 $ 0.04 % 0.04
30-34 0.04 0.04
35-39 0.04 0.04
40-44 0.06 0.06
45-49 0.10 0.10
50-54 0.16 0.16
55-59 0.22 0.22
60-64 0.20 0.30
65-69 0.39 0.39

During the reporting period, the OPEB plan recognized $580,265 in cantributions from the University.

At retirement, the member must have active group life insurance coverage and satisfy one of the
following:

*  Wisconsin Retirement Systeam (WRS) coverage prior to January 1, 1989, or

« At least one month of group life insurance coverage in each of five calendar years after 1989 and
one of the followlng:
*  Eligible for an immédiate WRS benefit,

« At least 20 years from their WRS creditable service as of January 1, 1990, plus their years of
group life insurance coverage after 1989, or

« At least 20 years on the payroli of their last employer.

In addition, terminating members and retirees must continue to pay the employee premiums until age
65 (age 70 if active).

Benefits and Membership. After retirement, basic coverage is continued for life in amounts for the
insurance in force before retirement;

Age Coverage
Before age 65 100%
While age 65 75%
While age 66 50%
After age 66 50%

After retirement, additional coverage may be continued until age 65 at 100 percent of the amount of
the insurance in force before retirement at the employee's expense, and spouse and dependent
coverage benefits is terminated.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPER. The University reported a liability of $180.5 million and $204.4 million
for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
june 30,2019 and June 30, 2018 net liability was measured as of December 31, 2018, and 2017,
respectively, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an
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actuarial valuation as of January 1,2018, and January 1, 2017, respectively, rolled forward to
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. No material changes in assumptions or
benefit terms occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The
University's proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on the University's share of contributions
to the OPEB plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2018, the
University’s proportion was 41.8 percent, which was an increase of 0.4 percent from its proportion of
41 4 percent measured as of December 31, 2017. At December 31, 2017, the University's proportion
was 41.4 percent, which was a decrease of 1.8 percent from its proportion of 43.2 percent measured
as of December 31, 2016.

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the University recognized OPEB expense of $15.0 millien
and $18.7 million, respectively.

At June 30, 2019, the University reported deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB
from the following sources:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

June 30, 201¢ of Resources of Resources

Difference Between Expected and

Actual Experience $ (7,828,979) % — % (7,828,979)
Net Differences Between Projected

and Actual Earnings on OPEB‘Plan

Investmenits 3,573,199 3,573,199 —_
Assumption Changes (19,182,026) 14,659,851 (33,841,877)
Changes in Proportion (3,446,808) 1,569,536 (5,016,344)

Total $ {26,884,614) % 19,802,586 % {46,687,200)

At June 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outfiows and inflows of resources related to OPEB
from the following sources:

Eiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows  Deferred inflows

June 30, 2018 of Resources of Resources

Difference Between Expected and
Actual Experience $ (1,917,278) % — % (1,917,2

Net Differences Between Projected
and Actual Earnings on OPEB Plan

78)

Investments 2,011,697 2,011,697 —
Assumption Changes 17,844,053 17,844,053 —
Changes in Proportion (6,313,448) — (6,313,448)

Total $ 11,625,024 $ 19,855,750 $ {8,230,726)
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

will be recognized in future OPEB expense as follows:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outfiows Deferred Inflows

June 30 of Resources of Resources
2020 $ 4,208,070 $% {8,226,100)
2021 4,208,070 {8,226,100)
2022 4,208,070 {8,226,100)
2023 3,712,584 (8,226,100)
2024 3,190,900 (8,226,100)

Thereafter 274,892 (5,556,700}
Total $ 19,802,586 % (46,687,200)

The total OPEB expense is determined as follows:

Net Proportionate Share of Plan OPEB Expense (income) $ 15,728,831

Net Amortization of Deferred Amounts from Changes in Proportion and Differences _
Between Employer Contributions and Proportionate Share of Contributions (728,662)

Total OPEB Expense $ 15,000,169

Actuarial Assumptions. The total OPEB liability in the january 1, 2018 and January 1, 2017 actuarial
valuations were determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included
in the measurement:

Actuarial Valuation Date

January 1, 2018

January 1, 2017

Measurement Date of Net OPEB Liability

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

Actuarial cost method

Entry age normal

Entry age normal

20-year tax-exempt municipal bond yield {4.10% 3.44%
Long-term expected rate of return 5.00% 5.00%
Discount rate 4,20% 3.60%
Salary Increases:
Inflation 3.00% 3.20%
Seniority/merit 0.1% - 5.6% 0.2% - 5.6%

Mortality rates

Wisconsin 2018 Mortality
Table

Wisconsin 2012 Mortality
Table

Long-Term Expected Return on Plan Assets. The long-term expected rate of return is determined by
adding expected inflation to expected long-term real returns and reflecting expected volatility and
correlation. Investments for the OPEB pian are held with Securian, the insurance carrier. Interest is
calculated and credited to the OPEB plan based on the rate of return for a segment of the insurance
carrier’s general fund, specifically 10-year A-Bonds (as a proxy, and not tied to any specific investments).
The overall aggregate interest rate is calculated using a tiered approach based on the year the funds
were originally invested and the rate of return for that year. Investment interest is credited based on
the aggregate rate of return, and assets are not adjusted to fair market value. Furthermore, the
insurance carrier guarantees the principal amounts of the reserves, including all interest previously
credited thereto.
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State OPEB Life Insurance
Asset Allocation Targets and Expected Returns

As of As of
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
beferred Deferred
Long-Term Long-Term
Expected Expected
Geometric Geometric
Target Real Rate Target Real Rate
Asset Class Index Allocation  of Return Allocation of Return
Barclays
.5, Government Bonds Government 1% 1.44% 1% 1.13%
U.S. Credit Bonds Barclays Credit 40% 2.69% 65% 2.61%
U.S. Long Credit Bonds Barclays Long Credit 4% 3.01% 3% 3.08%
U.S. Mortgages Barclays MBS 5454 2.25% 31% 2.19%
Bloomberg Barclays
U.5. Municipal Bends Muni 1% 1.68% — —_
Inflation 2.30% 2.30%
Long-Term Expected Rate of
Return 5.00% 5.00%

single Discount Rate. A single discount rate of 4.20 percent was used to measure the total OPEB
liability for the current year, as opposed to a discount rate of 3.60 parcent for the prior year. The plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be insufficient to make all projected future benefit payments
of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total OPEB
liability is equal to the single equivalent rate that results in the same actuarial present value as the
long-term expected rate of return applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary
net position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments, and the municipal bond
vate, determined using the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index, applied to
benefit payment to the extent that the plan’s fiduciary net position is projected to be insufficient. The
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make projected future benefit payments
of current plan members through December 31, 2033.

Sensitivity of the University's Proportionate Share of Net CPEB Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate. The following presents what the University’s liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or higher than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease in Current 1% Increase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

June 30, 2019

Discount Rate 3.20 % 4.20 % 520 %
OPEB Liability $ 245,887,232 % 180,490,611 % 129,771,332
June 30, 2018

Discount Rate 2.60% 3.60 % 4.60 %
OPEB Liability $ 278,342143 % 204,440,597 % 147,080,426
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OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/
cafr.htm.

Retiree Health Insurance Funds

The Retiree Health Insurance plans offer group health insurance to retired University employees.
Retirees pay the full premium amount. The plans are not administered through a trust. The Retiree
Health Insurance Funds contain certain non-CPEB components relating to post-Medicare pharmacy
and health insurance benefits. ETF and the GIB have statutory authority for program administration
and oversight under Wisconsin Statutes Chapters 15.165 (2} and 40.03 (6).

University employees participating in the State Health Insurance Plan are eligible to continue their
health insurance coverage after leaving covered employment. Membership includes former university
employees or their beneficiaries.

Employees may choose between self-insured health plans and alternate health pians with specific
provider networks (i.e, HMOs). The HMOs follow GIB guidelines for eligibility and program
requirements. All HMOs offer a prescribed benefit package called Uniform Benefits and participate in
a yearly competitive premium rate bid process. The Standard Plan and State Maintenance Plan are
selfinsured by the GIB and administered by WPS Health Insurance. Self-insured coverage for health
insurance was discontinued as of December 31, 2017. The Standard Plan Is a preferred provider plan.
The pharmacy benefit is self-insured by the GIB and administered by Navitus Health Solutions.

Effective January 1, 2012, prescription drug coverage for Medicare eligible retirees enrolled in the State
group health insurance program is provided by a self-funded Medicare Part D Employer Group Waiver
Plan (EGWP). A Medicare “Wrap” product is also included to provide full coverage to members, as
required by uniform benefits, when they reach the Medicare coverage gap, also known as the “donut
hole.”

Contributions. As of the January 2017 actuarial valuation, the State’s annual required contributions
were $100.8 million and $97.9 million for fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018,
respectively. The State's annual OPEB costs were $52.4 million and $85.4 million for fiscal years ended
June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively, and the State’s actual contributions were $40.8 million
in fiscal year 2019 and $43.2 million in fiscal year 2018, which results in a net OPEB obligation for the
State of $539.7 million as of June 30, 2019, and $719.3 millicn as of June 30, 2018.

State Retiree Health Insurance OPEB. The State Retiree Health Insurance program provides
postemployment heaith insurance coverage to all eligible retired employees of the University. The
University does not directly pay any portion of the premium for participating retirees. However, because
retirees pay the same premium rate set for active employees, an implicit rate subsidy exists for
employers. This implicit rate subsidy is reported as an OPEB liability. At age 65, when eligible, retirees
are required to enroll in Medicare.

Retiree Health Insurance Plan Description. GASB standards classify the State Retiree Health
Insurance program as a single employer defined benefit OPEB plan with multiple participating
employers. Medical, prescription drug and dental benefits are provided to eligible retirees.

Retirees pay the full premium until age 65 directly to the plan either through “out-of-pocket” or from
unused accumulated sick leave conversion credits. The value of the sick leave benefit Is defined as
compensated absences and reported under the provisions of GASB Statement No. 16, Accounting for
Compensated Absences.

Contribution requirements are established and may be amended by the GIB. Premiums for
non-Medicare retirees are based on an effective rate structure for the health care service provider
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selected, Monthly rates range from $543 to $1,371 for single coverage and $1,331 to $3,422 for family
coverage.

Total Retiree Health OPEB Liability. The OPER plan liability was measured as of june 30, 2018, It was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1,2017. The University reported a liability of
$237.2 million and $315.7 million for its proportionate share of the OPEB liability amounts as of a
June 30,2019 and june 30, 2018 reporting date, respectively. At June 30, 2019, the University's
proportion was 44.0 percent which was an increase of 0.1 percent from its proportion of 43.9 percent
measured as of June 30, 2017. At June 30, 2018, the University's proportion was 43.9 percent which was
a decrease of 1.0 percent from its proportion of 44.9 percent measured as of June 30, 2016.

The actuarial valuation was based on the plan of retiree benefits and was made for purposes of fulfilling
GASB accounting standards which require recognition of the employer cost of postemployment benefits
over an employee's career. The total cost of providing postemployment benefits is projected,
considering relevant assumptions, then discounted to determine the total OPEB liability. The total OPEB
liability was allocated to participating employers based on their proportionate share of health insurance
premiums contributed for active employees.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability. Changes to the University's proportionate share of the OPEB
plan liability during the fiscal year include the following:

QOPEB Liability - June 30, 2018 $ 315,687,625
Service Cost 25,509,090
Interest 11,910,415
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience 369,849
Change of Assumptions (98,334,274)
Benefit Payments {17,938,691)

QPEB Liability - June 30, 2019 $ 237,204,014

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are
based on the substantive plan{the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include
the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of
benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the
calculations.
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The total OPEB liability in the January 1, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement unless
otherwise specified:

Actuarial Valuation Date January 1, 2017 (used for June 30, 2018 and
June 38, 2017 measurement dates)

Measurement Date of Total OPEB Liability June 30,2018

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Asset Valuation Method N/A

inflation Inflation was changed from 3.00% for the

June 30, 2018 measurement from 3.20% for the
June 30, 2017 measurement

Salary increases Separate merit and longevity increase rates b
employer and service, plus 3.00% were used for the
June 30, 2018 measurement compared to varyin
salary increases by service and employee class plus
3.20% inflation for the June 30, 2017 measurement

Discount Rate Discount rate was changed to 3.87% for the
June 30, 2018 measurement from 3.58% for the
June 30, 2017 measurement

Health care cost trend rates (calendar year basis from
January 1, 2017}

Medical 5.25% for 2018 grading down 0.25% per year to 4.50%
Prescription drug 8.50% for 2018 grading down 0.50% per year to 5.00%
Dental 4,00% for 2018 and thereafter
Administrative costs 3.00% for 2018 and thereafier

Benefit Changes None

Participation Rate Decreased fram 85% to 80%

Assumed Claims Per capita claims costs were based on premium

eguivalent rates for plan year 2017, adjusted to reflect
tan changes effective January 1, 2017 and actuarial
actors applied to weighted average premium rates to
estimate costs

Disability Rates Rates for General, Execlitive and Elected employees
were changed to match the 2015-2017 experience
study for the pension valuation compared to the
2012-2014 experience study used in the prior year

Withdrawal Rate Rate was changed to match the 2015-2017 experience
study for the pension valuation compared to the
2012-2014 experience study used in the prioy year

Excise Tax Excise tax on high cost health plans beginning in 2022,
Gross Average Claims were trended using the Plan
Blended Medical and Prescription Drug Trend Rate,
offset by the 2018 threshold trended at 2.6% for 2018
and the assumed rate of inflation for subseguent
periods. The tax is assumed to be 40% of the
difference, beginning in 2022,

Benefit End Date : Benefits end when participants turn 65 years old

Valuation assumption changes decreased the liability by $128.2 million due to raising the discount rate
to 3.87 percent from 3.58 percent based on the Bond Buyer, 20-year, general obligation municipal bond
index rate closest to the measurement date {but not beyond). The assumptions used in the
January 1, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017, In addition, the assumed participation rate was lowered from
85 percent to 80 percent based on a study completed in July 2019, Other assumptions used, such as

64




UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 9 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (continued)

mortality, disability and retirement rates for active members, are consistent with analysis shown inthe
Experience Study Report performed by the pension actuary, completed for the period 2015-2017 and
the Wisconsin 2017 Mortality Table.

Sensitivity of the University's Proportionate Share of Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate. The following presents what the University’s liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or higher than the current discount rate:

1% Decrease in Current 1% Increase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

June 30, 2019

Discount Rate 2.87 % 3.87% 487 %
QPEB Liability $ 254,038,320 $ 237,204,014 $ 221,323,805
Jjune 30, 2018

Discount Rate 2.58 % 3.58 % 4,58 %
OPEB Liability ¢ 337,629,187 & 315,687,625 § 294,731,002

Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of Total OPEB liability to Changes in the
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates. The following presents what the University’s liability would be if it were
calculated using a healthcare trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or higher than the current
healthcare trend rate:

1% Decrease in Current 1% Increase in
Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

June 30, 2019

OPER Liability ¢ 209,691,945 $ 237,204,014 $ 269505594
June 30, 2018
OPEB Liability $ 279,238,231 $  315687,625 § 359,030,016

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB. The total deferred outflows and inflows of resources are amortized over the average active
participants service life of 10 years. For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the University
recognized OPEB expense amounting to $22.6 million and $19.9 million, respectively.

Total deferred outflows and inflows of resources to be recognized in the current OPEB expense for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

June 30, 2012 of Resources of Resources
Difference Between Expected and
Actual Experience $ (128,727} $ 38,290 % {167,017)
Assumption Changes {14,678,921) — (14,678,921)
Total $ (14,807,648) $ 38,250 % {14,845,938)
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Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

June 30, 2018 of Resources of Resources
Difference Between Expected and
Actual Experience 3 (161,848 $ — $ (161,848)
Change in Proportion (490,362) — {490,362)
Assumption Changes (4,358,996} — {4,358,996)
Total $ (5,011,206) $ — 3 (5,011,206}

in addition, the contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $17,977,163 (a deferred outflow
of resources)will be included as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the next year (2020). The deferred
outflows and inflows of resources to be recognized in the future OPEB expense for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

June 36, 2019 of Resources of Resources
Difference Between Expected and

Actual Experience 5 (1,124,335} % 334,448 $ (1,458,783)
Change in Proportion (3,933,099} 479,259 (4,413,258)
Assumption Changes (128,210,497) — (128,210,457}
Employer Contributions Subsequent

to Measurement Date 17,977,163 17,977,163 —
Total $ (115,291,668) $ 18,790,870 § (134,082,538)

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Qutflows Deferred Inflows

june 30, 2018 of Resources of Resources
Difference Between Expected and

Actual Experience $ (1,618,482 $ — % {1,618,482)
Change in Proportion {4,903,622) — {4,903,622)
Assumption Changes {43,589,955) — {43,589,955)
Employer Contributions Subsequent

1o Measurement Date 18,979,895 18,979,895 —
Total $ (31,132,164) $ 18,079,895 $ (50,112,059)
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

will be recognized in future OPEB expense as foilows:

Fiscal Year ended Deferred Outflows

Deferred inflows

june 30 of Resources of Resources
2019 $ — 5 (14,807,648)
2020 — (14,807,648)
2021 — (14,807.648)
2022 — (14,807,648)
2023 — {14,807,648)
Thereafter — {59,230,591)
Total N/A § (133,268,831)
The total OPEB expense is determined as follows:
Service Cost $ 25,509,090
Interest 11,810,415
Recognition of Deferred Outflows 38,290
Recognition of Deferred Inflows {14,845,938)
Total OPEB Expense $ 22,611,857

The Schedule of Changes in the University’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability and related
ratios is presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial

statements.
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NOTE 10 - Deferred Qutflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources

AtJune 30,2019 and june 30, 2018, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred

inflows of resources from the following sources:

Deferred Qutflows

Fiscal Year 2019

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Net differences between projected and
actual earnings on pension and CPEB
plan investments

Employer contributions subseguent to
the measurement date

Chanrges in Actuariat Assumptions

Changes in proportion and differences
between employer contributions and
proportionate share of contributions

Unamortized Losses
Asset Retirement Obligations

Total Deferred Qutflows

Fiscal Year 2018

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Net differences between projected and
actual earnings on pansion and CPEB
plan investments

Employer contributions subseguent to
the measurement date

Changes in Actuarlal Assumptions

Changes in proportion and differences
between emplayer contributions and
proportionate share of contributions

Unamortized Losses
Total Deferred Cutflows

Other Post-
Employment Debt
Pension Benefits Refundings Other Total
$ 369,500,896 & 334,448 & — 5 — & 369,835,344
692,857,041 3,573,199 — — 656,430,240
102,270,078 17,977,163 —_ — 120,247,241
79,969,783 14,659,851 — — 94,629,634
1,137,227 2,048,795 — — 3,186,022
—_ — 44,960,019 — 44,960,019
—_ — —_ 11,085,286 11,085,286
$1,245,735,025 § 38593456 $ 44,960,019 $ 11,085,286 3 1,340,373,786
$ 507,040,745 % — 5 — 3 —_ 507,040,745
— 2,011,697 — — 2,011,697
74,807,123 18,979,895 — — 93,787,018
78,850,365 17,844,053 — — 56,694,418
25,064 — — — 25,064
— — 50,910,007 —_ 50,910,007
$ 660,723,297 $ 38,835645 § 50,910,007 % — % 750,468,945
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Deferred Inflows

Fiscal Year 2019

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in proportion and
differences between employer
contributions and proportionate
share of contributions

Unamortized Gains
Gifts
Total Deferred Inflows

Fiscal Year 2018

Differences between expected and
actual experience

Net differences between projected
and actual earnings on pension and
OPEB plan investments

Changes in Actuarial Assumptions

Changes in proportion and
differences between employer
contributions and propaortionate
share of contributions ¢
Unamortized Gains

Gifts

Total Deferred Inflows

Other
Postemployment Debt
Pension Benefits Refundings Other Total
$653,144,688 & 9,287,762 § — 3 —_— 662,432,450
— 162,052,374 — — 162,052,374
2,025,905 9,429,602 — — 11,459,507
—_— o 332,732 — 332,732
— —_ —_ 274713 274,713
$ 655174593 % 180,768,738 % 332732 % 274713 836,551,776
$237176,849 § 3,535,760 % — % — 240,712,608
548,497,947 — - —_ 548,497,947
— 43,588,955 — —_ 43,589,955
4,966,507 11,217,070 — e 16,183,577
— — 575,913 — 575,913
— — —_ 55,428 55,428
$ 790,641,303 4 58,342,785 § 575913 % 55,428 849,615,425
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GASB Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, GASB Statement No, 39, Determining Whether
Certain Organizations Are Component Units, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, GASB Statement
No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, and
GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units, an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 14 provide guidance in determining whether organizations are to be included as part of
a reporting entity. The University has defined significance as 5% of the primary government (individual
campus) that the potential component unit exists to support. The University has determined that the
Campus Foundations individually and in aggregate exceed the 5% threshold and therefore are disclosed
in these financial statements as discretely presented component units. The following pages show the
summarized financial information of the major component unit campus foundations,
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NOTE 11 - Other Organizations {continued)

Condensed financial statement information related to the University’s campus foundations for the year
ended June 30, 2019 is as follows:

Condensed Statement of Financial University of The University

Position Wisconsin of Wisconsin

Foundation, Milwaukee

inc, Foundation Inc, Others Total

ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 14,352,673 % 6,865,794 $ 19,817,265 $ 41,035,732
Income and Redemption Receivables 61,322,010 448,327 36,846 61,807,183
Pledges Receivable, Net 105,016,732 15,019,533 36,647,465 156,683,730
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 7,283,671 1,361,305 10,830,102 19,475,078
Investments 4,157,753,513 166,812,031 329,279,574  4,653,845,118
Property and Eguipment, Net 17,055,651 71,584,049 98,457,443 187,097,143
Real Estate 3,544,489 — 591,649 4,136,138
TOTAL ASSETS ) $4,366,328,730 $ 262,091,039 $ 495660344 $5124080,122
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable $ 1,909,273 3 122,804 3% 3,764,501 $ 5,796,578
Pending Investrment Purchases Payable 82,648,552 e — 82,648,552
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 10,085,247 2,430,924 18,131,764 30,647,935
Note Payable — 81,300,595 81,776,628 163,077,223
Liability Under Split-Interest Agreements 42,673,164 — 798,800 43,471,964
Fuhds Due to Other QOrganizations 287,886,482 2,666,271 200,774 200,753,527
Total Liabilities 425,202,718 86,520,594 104,672,467 616,395,779
NET ASSETS
without Donor Restrictions 163,258,552 2,653,644 28,567,248 104,479,484
with Denor Restrictions 3,777,867,429 172,916,801 362,420,629  4,313,204,859
Total Net Assets 3,041,126,021 175,570,445 350,987,877 4,507,684,343

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $4,366,328,739 $ 262,091,039 §$ 495660344 $5124080,122
Condensed Statement of Activities
REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER

SUPPORT

Contributions $ 341625459 $ 25,132,662 $ 44839878 § 411,597,999
Investment Return, Net of Fees 148,530,807 9,740,116 6,637,326 164,908,249
Rental Income — 5,647,041 3,983,986 8,631,027
Other Income , 5,447,052 50,000 4,394,394 6,891,446
Total Revenues, Gains and Other

Support 495,603,318 40,569,819 59,855,584 586,028,721
EXPENSES

Program Expenses 275,391,164 27,201,863 39,261,133 341,854,160
Management and General Expenses 16,414,420 1,201,155 5,461,861 23,077,436
Fund raising Expenses 27,851,178 3,683,492 5,388,665 36,923,335
Total Expenses 319,656,762 32,086,510 50,111,659 401,854,931
INCREASE 1IN NET ASSETS 175,846,556 8,483,309 9,743,925 184,173,790
Net Assets - Beginning of Year 3,765,179,465 167,087,136 381,243,952  4,313,510,553
Net Assets - End of Year $3,041,126,021 $ 175570445 $ 390,987,877 $4507684343

71



UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 11 ~ Other Organizations (continued)

Condensed financial statement information related to the University’s campus foundations for the year

ended June 30, 2018 is as follows:

Condensed Statement of Financial

s University of The University
Position Wisconsin of Wisconsin
Foundation, Milwaukee
Inc. Foundation Inc. Others Total
ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 130,916,735 % 5412,565 $ 20,738,132 $ 157,067,432
Income and Redemption Receivables 25,817,848 390,924 39,141 26,247,913
Pledges Receivable, Net 122,589,146 16,204,604 36,532,572 175,326,722
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 6,741,875 1,558,055 18,702,571 27,002,501
Investments 3,860,69%,207 157,618,943 317,965,573  4,336,283,723
Property and Equipment, Net 18,926,940 74,312,871 101,304,132 194,543,943
Real Estate 9,276,327 — 1,078,406 10,354,733
TOTAL ASSETS $4,174,968,078 $ 255497962 $ 496,360,927 $4,026826,967
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 3 2,419,408 % 131,134 § 4,321,064 $ 6,871,606
Pending Investment Purchases Payable 54,783,240 — — 54,783,240
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities 28,758,099 2,418,097 17,520,615 48,696,811
Note Payable — 82,970,274 92,235,636 175,205,910
Liability Under Split-Interest Agreements 44,599,135 — 838,886 45,438,021
Funds Due to Other Qrganizations 279,228,731 2,881,321 200,774 282,320,826
Total Liabilities 409,788,613 88,410,826 115,116,975 613,316,414
NET ASSETS
Without Donor Restrictions 129,327,363 808,156 29,011,414 159,146,933
With Donor Restrictions 3,635,852,102 166,278,980 352,232,538  4,154,363,620
Total Net Assets 3,765,179,465 167,087,136 381,243,952  4,313,510,553

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Condensed Statement of Activities

REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER
SUPPORT '

$4,174,968,078

$ 255497962

$ 456,360,927

$4,926,826,967

Contributions $ 313,184,081 $ 35165211 $ 45768307 $ 394,117,595
Investment Return, Net of Fees 261,358,973 9,428,925 28,920,660 299,710,558
Rental Income —_— 5,758,561 6,754,055 12,512,616
Other Income 6,109,982 — 5,212,950 11,322,932
Total Revenues, Gains and Other

Support 580,654,036 50,353,697 86,655,972 717,663,705
EXPENSES

Program Expenses 279,541,953 22,474,587 42,551,143 344,567,683
Management and General Expenses 37,841,323 2,111,749 6,214,914 46,167,986
Fundraising Expenses 25,720,620 3,652,236 5,175,350 34,448,206
Total Expenses 343,103,896 28,138,572 53,941,407 425,183,875
INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 237,550,140 22,215,125 32,714,565 292,479,830
Net Assets - Beginning of Year 3,527,629,325 144,872,011 348,529,387  4,021,030,723
Net Assets - End of Year $3,765,179,465 $ 167,087,136 $ 381,243952 $4,313510,553
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NOTE 11 - Other Organizations {continued)
A - University of Wisconsin Medical Foundation

The University of Wisconsin Medical Foundation (UWMF) is the not-for-profit clinical practice
organization for the faculty physicians of the School of Medicine and Public Health within the
UW-Madison and is reported as a blended component unit of he University of Wisconsin Hospital and
Clinics Authority, The UWMF provides clinical sites, technical and professional staff, and administrative
services for the Uw-Madison faculty physicians group.

During fiscal year 2007-08, the Wisconsin Department of Health Services (DHS) implemented a Certified
Public Expenditure (CPE) program for the services the UW faculty physicians group provides to Medical
Assistance (MA) recipients. Because the UW faculty physicians group qualifies as a public provider, it
is eligible to receive cost-based reimbursement under federal MA rules.

Under the CPE program, DHS is able to claim additional federal MA funds based upon the difference
between the established MA reimbursement rate for the services provided by the UW-Madison faculty
physicians group and the actual cost of providing those services. To enable the draw of these federal
funds by DHS, UW-Madison remitted a total of $11.2 million to DHS during fiscal year 2619 and
$11.3 million in fiscal year 2018, representing the state’s share of this difference. DHS then claimed the
federal share of the difference from the federal government and subsequently provided $26.7 million
during fiscal year 2019 and $26.6 million during fiscal year 2018, representing both the state and federal
share of the difference, to the UWMF. In addition, transfers by UW-Madison to the MA Trust Fund of
$15.5 million during fiscal year 2019 and $15.4 million in fiscal year 2018 were also made under this
program and are reported as a transfer to state agencies on the financial statements.

During fiscal year 2019, the UWMF remitted $33.3 million to UW-Madison as reimbursement for
payments to DHS during fiscal year 2018, During fiscal year 2018, the UWMF remitted $42.7 million to
Uw-Madison as reimbursement for payments to DHS during fiscal year 2017.

In addition, UW-Madisonincurred expenditures forwhich reimbursementwas received from the UWMF,
Of the $129.0 millicn expended in fiscal year 2019, $116.9 million was for salaries and fringe benefits
of staff in the UW-Madison School of Medicine, In fiscal year 2018, of the $114.5 million expended,
$101.8 million was for salaries and fringe benefits of staff in the UW-Madison School of Medicine.

B - University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics Authority

The University of Wisconsin Hospital and Clinics Authority (UWHCA), pursuantto an act of the Wisconsin
State Legislature, began operating on June 289, 1996 as a separate public authority, and is reported as
a discrete component unit within the financial statements of the State of Wisconsin. As required by this
legislation, the University has entered into various affiliation and operating agreements with UWHCA,
including a lease agreement. Under the terms of the lease, UWHCA makes payments equal to the debt
service on all outstanding bonds issued by the State of Wisconsin to acquire, construct, or improve the
leased facilities. At June 30,2019, the presentvalue of these future fease payments totaled $0.12 million,
compared to $0.14 million at June 30, 2018, an amount equal to the principal on the related bonds
outstanding; the asset is included on the statement of net position as part of the capital lease receivable,
and the related debt is included as part of the total University bonds outstanding of $1,435.3 million
and $1,435.1 million at June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018, respectively. The leased facilities are not
included as part of the University’s investment in buildings since they have been reported by UWHCA
in their audited financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles
that pertain to the reporting of leased assets.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the University received services from UWHCA totaling
$5.1 million and provided services to UWHCA totaling $57.0 million, compared to amounts for fiscal
year ended June 30, 2018 of $5.0 million and $69.7 million. The cost of the services provided and the
associated revenue are separately identified in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in
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Net Position. The amounts spent for services received are included as salaries and fringe benefits and
supplies and services expenses on this statement. The services received were funded by an equivalent
amount of state appropriations revenue,

C - The Wisconsin Institutes for Discovery

The Wisconsin Institutes for Discovery, which opened in December 2010, is a visionary public-private
facility that has taken shape as an innovative building housing two world-class biomedicai research
institutes and a public space known as the Town Center for campus and community members to gather
and collaborate. The public institute, the Wisconsin Institutes for Discovery, is organized under the
UW-Madison Graduate School. The private portion of the facility is owned by the Wisconsin Alumni
Research Foundation (WARF), which is an independent, nonprofit foundation chartered to support
research at UW-Madison and the designated technology transfer organization for the university. The
facility was originally undertaken with $50.0 million in State of Wisconsin and University funding,
$110.0 million contributed by WARF, and a $50.0 million donation from a private donor, The Morgridge
institute for Research, an independent IRC 501(c)(3) medical research organization, occupies the
majority of the WARF-owned portion of the building.

The Wisconstn Institutes for Discovery facility is a 300,000 square foot building located at 330 North
Orchard Street in Madison, Wisconsin. Since the University initially owned all of this land, the University
and WARF became parties to a Real Property Exchange Agreement dated January 19, 2007. Under the
terms of the Exchange Agreement, the University agreed to convey to WARF a portion of this land, and
WARF agreed to convey to the University properties of equal value as defined in the agreement. In fiscal
years 2008-09 and 2010-11, the University recorded $4.3 million and $7.7 million, respectively, as Land
and Capital Contributions for the fair market value of the properties WARF has conveyed to the
University of Wisconsin System under this agreement. The remainder of the property was transferred
to the Board of Regents of the University in November 2016. As such, the Wisconsin Institutes for
Discovery does not meet the criteria of a component unit of the University.

The Wisconsin Institutes for Discovery Is operated as a condominium. University and WARF are the
members of The Wisconsin Institutes for Discovery Condominium Association, Inc. (Association), as set
forth in the Condominium Declaration dated September 25, 2009, Ownership of the facility has been
determined to be 30% University and 70% WARF. Of the total capitalized cost, the University capitalized
$60.1 million as Buildings, and the remaining amount was capitalized by WARF. Under the terms of the
Condominium Declaration, the Association contracts with WARF for purposes of the management and
operation of the property. The parties also entered into an Operating and Services Agreement that sets
forth the mutually agreed upon specifics of such management and operation.

D - La Crosse Medical Health Science Education Research Center

On June 6, 1997, the Board of Regents entered into a Use Agreement with The La Crosse Medical Health
Science Consortium, Inc. (The Consortium), a Wisconsin non-stock corporation tax exempt under
IRC 507{c)(3) with offices at 1725 State Street, La Crosse, Wisconsin. As such, The Consortium does not
meet the criteria of a component unit of the University.

The Use Agreement makes available the exclusive use of the La Crosse Medical Health Science Education
Research Center to The Consortium. As required by this Use Agreement, the University has entered
into various operating agreements with The Consortium, including a lease agreement. Under the terms
ofthe lease, The Consortium makes payments equal to the debt service on all outstanding bonds issued
by the State of Wisconsin to acquire, construct, or improve the leased facilities. At June 30, 2019, the
present value of these future Jease payments totaled $0.52 million, compared to $0.82 million at june
30, 2018, an amount equal to the principal on the related bonds outstanding; the asset is included on
the statement of net position as part of the capital lease receivable, and the related debt is included
as part of the total University bonds outstanding. The leased facilities are not included as part of the
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NOTE 11 - Other Organizations (continued)

University's investment in buildings since they have been reported by The Consortium in their audited
financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles that pertain to
the reporting of leased assets.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the University provided services and rent to The
Consortium totaling $0.7 million. The cost of the services provided, and the associated revenue are
included in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. The amounts spent for
services received are included as salaries and fringe benefits and supplies and services expenses on
this statement. The services received were funded by an equivalent amount of revenue from state
appropriations,

E - Funds Held In Trust by Others

Funds held in trust by others are endowment funds held by trustees outside of the University Trust
Funds for the benefit of the University. The market value of these funds amounted to $196.4 million
at June 30, 2019, compared with $194.9 million at June 30, 2018. During fiscal year 2019, $1.1 million
of these funds was made available by the trustees for spending. In fiscal year 2018, $1.1 million of was
available by the trustees for spending.
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NOTE 12 - Operating Expenses by Functional Classification

Operating expenses by functional classification for the fiscal year ended June 3G, 2019:

Salary and Scholarships

Fringe and Supplies and
Benefits Fellowships Services Other Depreciation Total

Instruction $1,315,949,826 § 1,251,704 § 125,299,550 & 10,471,096 % — $1,452,972179
Research 692,046,296 3,168,800 290,068,353 1,865,103 — 987,149,552
Public Service 214,337,538 546,929 143,141,295 6,750,206 — 264,775,968
Academic Support 323,983,152 688,886 104,674,406 (672,154) — 428,674,290
Farm Operations 13,158,625 — 7,490,451 24,756 — 20,673,832
Student Services 325,57‘1 ,886 763,397 178,270,635 782,723 — 505,488,641
Institutional Suppart 279,926,847 2,071,299 27,798,895 (735,319) — 309,061,722
Operation/Maintenance 155,755,015 142,085,940 1,041,964 — 258,886,919
Financtal Aid 110,422,990 133,737,111 492,970 (1,051,708} — 243,601,363
Auxillary Enterprises 120,531,549 19,541 236,414,915 2,707,394 — 358,673,399
Hospital — — 50,361,274 — — 50,361,274
Depreciation — — — — 327,325,155 327,325,155
Total Operating

Expenses $3,551,783,727 $ 142,748,667 $1306,102,684 $ 21,184,061 $ 327,325,155 $5348,644,254

Operating expenses totaled $5.3 billion, Salary and fringe benefits; scholarships and fellowships; and
supplies and services and other expenses constituted 66.4%, 2.7%, and 24.8% of total operating
expenses, respectively. Depreciation comprised $327.3 million or 6.1% of total operating expenses.

Operating expenses by functional dlassification for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018:

Salary and Scholarships

Fringe and Supplies and
Benefits Fellowships Services Other Depreciation Total

Instruction $1,137,524,125 $ 1,871,450 % 115928100 $ 2277509 % — $1,257,601,184
Research 678,592,984 4,402,803 299,136,284 2,328,773 - 984,460,844
Public Service 199,867,665 594,357 92,926,513 5,488,856 —_ 298,877,391
Academic Support 303,537,046 228,268 97,955,799 187,981 — 401,909,024
Farm Operations 11,171,835 — 7,013,669 {1,123) — 18,184,481
Student Services 310,758,954 748,423 167,605,123 (3,805) — 479,108,695
Institutional Support 268,665,397 2,868,114 39,966,356 98,188 — 311,598,055
Operation/Maintenance 145,743,404 — 134,583,908 45,008 — 284,372,320
Financial Aid 108,153,972 146,883,786 1,070,034 1,800,655 — 257,908,447
Auxtliary Enterprises 119,846,812 7,058 243,303,851 120,843 — 363,278,564
Hospital — — 63,137,755 — — 63,137,755
Depreciation — — — e 323,284,139 323,964,139
Total Operating

Expenses $3,287,862,294 § 157,604,259 $1,262,627,392 $ 12,342,885 $ 323,984,139  $5,044,420,969

Operating expenses totaled $5.0 billion. Salary and fringe benefits; scholarships and fellowships; and
supplies and services and other expenses constituted 65.2%, 3.1%, and 25.3% of total operating
expenses, respectively. Depreciation comprised $324.0 million or 6.4% of total operating expenses.
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NOTE 13 - Classification of Net Position

Net Position is reported in the following categories: Net Investment in Capital Assets,
Restricted - Nonexpendable, Restricted - Expendable, and Unrestricted.

Net Investment in Capital Assets includes assets, such as buildings, construction in progress, and
equipment, that are reported net of related debt. Restricted funds are those that have
externally-imposed stipulations. Restricted - Nonexpendable funds are those that must be
permanently maintained, such as permanent endowments, Restricted - Expendable includes balances
such as those for quasi-endowments; segregated fees; student loans; federal aid; and gifts, grants, and
contracts. These funds are expendable subject to actions of the University that are pursuant to
stipulations or may become expendable by the passage of time. Unrestricted funds are those that are
not subject to external stipulations. However, most of the unrestricted funds have been identified for
academic and research programs and initiatives, and capital programs.
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NOTE 13 - Classification of Net Position (continued)

The amounts within each category at June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Restricted - Nonexpendable Permanent Endowment

Restricted - Expendable

Restricted for Pensions
Restricted Endowment Earnings
Restricted Donor Investments
Auxiliary Operations - Segregated Fees
Restricted for Student Loans

Federal Aid

Gifts

Endowment Funds
Subtotal

Restricted - Other
Federal Aid
Gifts and Nonfederal Grants & Contracts
Construction Fund
Segregated Revenue
All Other Restricted Program Revenue
Subtotal

Total Restricted - Expendable

Unrestricted
Tuition (Academic & Extension Student Fees)
General Operations
Auxiliary Operations (Non-Segregated Fee)
Indirect Cost Reimbursement
Quasi-Endowment Funds
All Other Unrestricted Program Revenue
Gifts and Nonfederal Grants & Contracts
Federal Aid?
All Other Non-Program Revenue®*

Total Unrestricted

Total Net Position

A Funds are typically collected on a reimbursement basis resulting in a negative balance at year end.
* The negative balance results primarily from an accumulating effect of accrual entries on General

Purpose Revenue and Segregated Revenue funds.
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2019
$3,614,415,650

2018

$3,519,597,333

197,906,470 188,177,512
— 399,079,716
89,474,275 85,548,343
200,692,160 195,706,530
93,772,886 89,562,658
46,732,101 34,027,391
35,067,774 32,047,657
9,812,464 13,364,280
91,612,339 79,439,328
48,467,533 46,527,942
305,130,900 282,805,370
167,906,942 229,766,918
541,859 451,902
2,090,552 3,177,487
524,137,786 562,769,619
$99,689,446  1,412,106,194
153,038,467 146,332,124
116,552,790 99,502,178
226,460,392 200,189,927
116,510,431 128,800,892
101,135,664 82,703,693
65,964,457 18,305,386
63,312,112 1,492,060
(70,732,865) (62,872,893)
{224,574,548) {304,216,968)
547,666,900 316,236,399

$5,359,678,466 $5,430,117,438
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NOTE 13 - Classification of Net Position (continued)

The following table shows reclassifications which are done to conform to reporting requirements related
to the State of Wisconsin's CAFR. As a reporting entity, the University cannot exercise total discretion
over the use of net position of segregated fee auxiliary operations because of statutory mandates;
however, they do have discretion in the use of the net position of quasi-endowments reported as
unrestricted.

CAFR reclassifications as of June 30, 2019 (in millions):

University of State of
Wisconsin = Auxiliary Student Wisconsin
System Operations Endowments Loans CAFR
Net Investment in
Capital Assets $ 36144 $ — 4 — % — % 36744
Restricted for
Pension — — — — —
Nonexpendable 197.8 — e — 197.9
Expendable 383.9 (93.8) 60.5 — 350.6
Student Loans 91.6 — — {9.8) 81.8
Other 524.1 — e 9.8 533.9
Unrestricted 547.7 93.8 (60.5) — 581.0
Total Net Position $ 5,359.6 % — 5 — § — 5 5,359.6

CAFR reclassifications as of June 30, 2018 (in millions):

University of State of
Wisconsin Auxiliary Student Wisconsin
System Operations Endowments Loans CAFR
Net lnvestment in
Capital Assets $ 35196 §$ — % — 3 — % 3,519.6
Restricted for .
Pension 399.1 — — — 399.1
Nonexpendable 'o188.2 — — — 188.2
Expendable 359.6 (89.6) 37.3 — 307.3
Student Loans 79.4 — — {(9.8) 69.6
Other 574.0 — — 9.8 583.8
Unrestricted 310.2 89.6 (37.3) — 362.5
Total Net Position $ 5430.1 % — 3 — % — % 5,430.1

79




UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM
Notes to the Financial Statements
Years Ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

NOTE 14 - Change in Accounting Principle

The June 30, 2018 Statement of Net Position includes the following change in accounting principle.

Accounts Affected Amount Explanation
Unrestricted Net Position $ 220,919,801 OPEB liability adjustment as it
Other Postemployment Benefits (220,919,801) relates to GASB No. 75

NOTE 15 - Contingent Liabilities

The University of Wisconsin System is covered by the State of Wisconsin's self-funded program with
settlenents or judgments paid from the State Risk Management Fund. Loss experienceis charged hack
to the Individual University of Wisconsin institutions in subsequent years based on exposure and
experience with caps in place for large losses.

The University of Wisconsin System is party in a number of legal actions. While final resolutions have
not yet been determined, management is of the opinion that any liabilities resulting from these actions
will not have a material adverse effect on the University of Wisconsin System's financial position.

NOTE 16 - Subsequent Events

In August 2019, the State issued $220.6 million of 2019 Series A general obligation bonds to be used
for the acquisition, construction, development, extension, enlargement or improvement of land, water,
property, highways, buildings, equipment or facilities for public purposes, Theinterest rates associated
with the bonds were set at 4.0 to 5.0 percent payable semiannually beginning November 1, 2019. The
bonds mature annually beginning May 1, 2021 through May 1, 2040. The total par amount of the 2019
Series A bonds thatwas issued for University of Wisconsin purposes is $97.8 million; additional purchase
premium proceeds from this issue were also applied for UW purposes.

In October 2019, the State issued $328.7 million of 2019 Series 1 general obligation refunding bonds
(taxable) to be used for the advance refunding of general obligation bonds previously issued by the
State of Wisconsin for general governmental purposes. The interest rates associated with these bonds
were set at 1.757 to 2.531 percent payable semiannually beginning May 1, 2020, The bonds mature
annually beginning May 1, 2023 through May 1, 2033.

In December 2019, the State plans to issue $267.2 million of 2019 Series general obligation bonds. The
bonds are to be used for the acquisition, construction, development, extension, enlargement or
improvement of land, water, property, highways, buildings, equipment or facilities for public
purpases. The Interest rates assoclated with the bonds were set at 4.0 to 5.0 percent payable
semiannually beginning May 1, 2020. The bonds mature annually beginning May 1, 2021 through
May 1, 2040. The total par amount of the 2019 Series B bonds planned to issue for University of
Wisconsin purposes is $96.9 million; additional purchase premium proceeds from this issue were also
applied for UW purposes,
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Required Supplementary Information and
Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2018

University of Wisconsin System’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Wisconsin Retirement System

The University's proportionate share of the net pension liability (NPL) or net pension (asset) (NPA) of
the Wisconsin Retirement System is provided below:

Proportionate

Share asa WRS' Net Position as
Proportion  Proportionate Percentage of a Percentage of the
Fiscal of the Share of the Covered Covered Total
Year* NPL (NPA) NPL (NPA) Payroll Payroll Pension Liability
2019 13.34% $474,415,425 $2,034,643,431 23.32% 96.54%
2018 13.44% $(399,079,716) $1,967,891,964 (20.28)% 102.93%
2017 13.54% $112,698,659 $1,925,105,545 5.79% 99.10%
2016 13.59% $220,459,696 $1,924,520,818 11.47% 98.20%
2015 13.44% ${330,166,674) $1,896,092,723 1741% 102.74%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occu rred within the fiscal year.
GASB standards require the presentation of 10 years of information. Because fiscal year 2015 was the first year for reporting
this Information, a full 10-year schedule will not be available until fiscal year 2024,

{
University of Wisconsin System’s Pension Contributions
Wisconsin Retirement System

The University’s pension contributions to the Wisconsin Retirement System are provided below:

Contributions

Made as a
Contractually Contribution Percentage of
Fiscal Required Contributions Deficiency Covered Covered
Year* Contributions Made {Excess} Payroli Payrolf
2019 $136,968,134 $136,968,134 $ $2,034,643,431 6.73%
2018 $134,517,079 $134,517,079 $— $1,967,891,964 6.84%
2017 $127,760,738 $127,760,738 $— $1,92%,105,545 6.62%
2016 $131,542,672 $131,542,672 $— $1,924,520,818 6.84%
2015 $133,468,069 $133,468,069 $— $1,896,052,723 7.04%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal vear.

GASB standards require the presentation of 10 years of information. Because fiscal year 2015 was the first year for reporting
this information, a full 10-year schedule will not be avallable until fiscal year 2024.

Notes to Required Supplementary Information
for the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Changes of benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employerin WRS.

Changes in assumptions. Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2018
using experience from 2015 - 2017. Based on the experience study conducted in 2018, actuarial
assumptions used to develop total pension fiability changed, including a decrease in the discount rate
from 7.2% to 7.0%, and a decrease in the long-term expected rate of return from 7.2% to 7.0%,
post-retirement adjustment, wage inflation rate, mortality and separation rates,
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University of Wisconsin System’s Proportionate Share of the OPEB Liability
Retiree Life Insurance Fund
The University’s proportionate share of the OPEB liability is provided below:

Proportionate Plan Fiduciary Net

Share as a Position as a
Proportion of  Proportionate Percentage of Percentage of the
Fiscal the OFEB Share of the Covered Covered Total
Year* Liability OPEB Liability Payroll Payroll OPEB Liability
2019 41.83% $180,490,611 $1,205,222,000 15.0% 44.36%
2018 41.42% $204,440,597 $1,318,898,190 15.5% 41.63%

#The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year.
GASR standards require the presentation of 10 years of information. Because fiscal year 2018 was the first year for reporting
this information, a full 10-year schedule will not be available until fiscal year 2027.

University of Wisconsin System's OPEB Contributions
Retiree Life Insurance Fund

The University's OPEB contributions are provided below:

Contributions

Contractually Contribution Made as a
Fiscal Required Contributions Peficiency Covered Percentage of
Year* Contributions Made (Excess} Payroll Covered Payroll
2019 $580,265 $580,265 $— $1,205,222,000 0.05%
2018 $552,145 $552,145 $— $1,318,898,190 0.04%

*The amounts prasented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year.
GASE standards require the presentation of 10 years of information, Because fiscal year 2018 was the first year for reporting
+his information, a full 10-year schedule will nat be available until fiscal year 2027

Notes to Required Supplementary Information
for the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Changes of benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in WRS.

Changes in ossumptions. Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2018
using experience from 2015 - 2017. Based on the experience study conducted in 2018, actuarial
assumptions used to develop total OPEB liability changed, including the discount rate, wage inflation
rate, mortality and separation rates.
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University of Wisconsin System’s Proportionate Share of the OPEB Liability
Retiree Health Insurance Plan
The University's proportionate share of the OPEB liability is provided below:

Proportionate

Shareas a
Proportion of  Proportionate Percentage of
Fiscal the OPEB Share of the Covered Covered
Year* Liability OPEB Liability Payroll payroll
2019 43.95% $ 237,204,014 § 1,622,101,587 14.6%
2018 43,89% $ 315,687,625 § 1,577,063,898 20.0%

*Tha amotints presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year,
GASE standards require the presentation of 10 years of information. Because fiscal year 2018 was the first year for reparting
this information, a full 10-year schedule will not be available until fiscal year 2027.

University of Wisconsin System’s OPEB Contributions
Retiree Health Insurance Plan

The University's OPEB contributions are provided below:

. Contractually o Contribution Contributions Made
Fiscal Required Contributions Deficiency Covered as a Percentage of
Year*  Contributions Made (Excess) Payroll Covered Payroil

2019 $ 435,919,184 § 435919,184 $— $ 1,622,101,587 26.9%
2018 $ 433914171 $ 433,914,171 $— $ 1,577,063,898 27.5%

*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end that occurred within the fiscal year.
GASB standards reguire the presentation of 10 years of information. Because fiscal year 2018 was the first year for reporting
this information, a full 10-year schedule will not be avallable until fiscal year 2027.

Notes to Required Supplementary Information
for the Year Ended june 30, 2019

Changes of benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in WRS.

Changes in assumptions. Valuation assumption changes decreased the liability by $128.2 million due to
raising the discount rate to 3.87 percent from 3.58 percent based on the Bond Buyer, 20-year, general
obligation municipal bond index rate closest to the measurement date (but not beyond), The
assumptions used In the January 1, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2017. In addition, the assumed participation rate
was lowered from 85 percentto 80 percent based on a study completed injuly 2019. Other assumptions
used, such as mortality, disability and retirement rates for active members, are consistent with analysis
shown in the Experience Study Report performed by the pension actuary, completed for the period
2015-2017 and the Wisconsin 2017 Mortality Table.

No assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB 75 to pay related
benefits.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor's Report

To Management; the Joint Legislative Audit Committee;
Members of the University of Wisconsin Board of Regents;
and Dr. Raymond Cross, President

University of Wisconsin System

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the University of Wisconsin System (the "UW System"),
an enterprise fund of the State of Wisconsin, and its aggregate discretely presented component units as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2019 and the related notes to the financial statements, which coliectively comprise the
UW System's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated Dacember 18, 2019. Our
report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the aggregate discretely
presented component units, as described in our report on the University of Wisconsin System's financial
statements. This report does not include the results of the other auditors’ testing of internal control over financial
reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. The financial
statements of the aggregate discretely presented component units were not audited in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the UW System's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the UW System's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the UW System's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, fo prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
contral such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the UW System's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies, and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to
be material weaknesses. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and responses as Finding 2019-001, that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the UW System's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.
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To Management and the Joint Legislative Audit Committee;
Members of the University of Wisconsin Beard of Regents;
and Dr. Raymond Cross, President

University of Wisconsin System

The UW System’s Response to the Finding

The UW System's response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and responses. The UW System's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the financial statements, and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the UW System's internal control or on
compliance, This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the UW System’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not

suitable for any other purpose.
74«14‘» f 775»4«/, PLLL

December 186, 2019 -




Schedule of Findings and Responses

Reference
Number

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Finding

2019-001

Finding Type - Significant deficiency

Criteria - The University of Wisconsin System (the "UW System) consists of 13 universities,
including 13 branch colleges, and UW System Administration. The UW System's institutions
operate in a highly computerized environment and are responsible for maintaining confidential
and sensitive information, such as student data. UW System Administration maintains the
shared financial system (SFS), which is the UW System’s accounting system, and the human
resource system (HRS), which is the UW System’s payroli and personnel system. These
systems are used by all of the UW System's institutions. In addition, each institution maintains
its own student information system (SIS) to administer federal student financial aid programs,
as well as other computer applications. To provide proper internal control, information
technology (IT) security policies and procedures are necessary to ensure software and data
stored and processed by the institutions are protected from accidental or intentional misuse or
destruction. In addition, IT controls should be established to prevent inappropriate or
inadvertent access to systems and data.

In developing systemwide IT security policies and procedures, UW System Administration
consulted policies and procedures from the UW System's institutions and other educational
institutions, as well as using the National Institute of Standards and Technology's (NIST)
Special Publication 00-63 and Special Publication 800-171. NIST publications provide a
framework for estabiishing a well-controlled IT environment and are most effective when
implemented for all critical IT areas. The framework is necessary to ensure software and data
stored and processed by the UW System is protected from accidental or intentional misuse or
destruction. In addition, IT controls should be established to prevent inappropriate or
inadvertent access to systems and data.

The UW Information Assurance Council (IAC), which was made up of iT, legal, and audit staff
representing different institutions, including UW System Administration, was established to
identify and analyze risks related to IT security, develop policies to address these risks, and
review the performance of the UW System's IT security program. The IAC has since been
disestablished: a dedicated Office of Information Security at the system level was established in
mid-2018 and has assumed the roles of IT security strategy and program management, risk
analysis, and risk-informed policy development. Chancellors and chief information officers at
each institution are responsible for ensuring compliance with the new policies.




University of Wisconsin System

Schedule of Findings and Responses (Continued)

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Reference
Number Finding
2018-001 Condition - Weaknesses were reported in the UW System’s IT security policies, procedures,

(continued)

and controls during its fiscal year (FY) 2014-2015, FY 2015-2016, FY 2016-2017, FY 2017-
2018, and FY 2018-2019 audits. Recommendations were made for UW System Administration
to develop systemwide IT security policies and procedures, assist UW institutions in
implementing timely corrective actions related to our institution-specific concerns, and develop
procedures for assessing the level of protection provided for the UW System’s systems and
data.

In response to the prior year recommendations, the UW System's board of regents approved,
in December 2015, a high-level policy on information security that required the UW System to
develop and maintain a comprehensive T security program. Furthermore, five systemwide 1T
policies were established in September 2018 through the UW information Assurance Coungil.
These policies covered the following areas: authentication, data classification, security
awaraness, incident response, and acceptable use.

During 2018-2019, UW System Administration’s Office of Internal Audit has performed IT audits
at various UW institutions to test compliance with UW System Administration IT security
policies and procedures. UW System Administration has continued the process of developing
procedures to assess the overall level of protection provided for the UW System’s systems and
data and to start implementing those procedures. In addition, the UW System has fully
developed IT policies and procedures to cover critical areas under the NIST framework and fo
meet the requirements of the board of regents’ policy to develop a comprehensive IT security
prograrm.

However, we did note that steps were yet to be taken to implement a vendor management
policy. We did note that a "risk review" phase takes place to assess risk prior to contract
signing.

Context - We reviewad the UW System’s IT security policies and procedures and assessed
them in comparison to NIST standards. We tested various IT controls at several of the UW
System's institutions. We did not audit the |T security policies and procedures at all of the
institutions or the IT controls over all computer applications used by the institutions. However,
we believe there is a potential that similar weaknesses may exist at those institutions or in those
applications that we did not review.

Cause - IT staff at each of the UW System's institutions are responsible for ensuring IT security
policies, procedures, and controls are properly developed and maintained. Those institutions
that have smaller IT staff may find challenges in meeting these responsibilities, maintaining
proper separation of duties, and monitoring sufficiently all security policies and procedures. In
addition, with changing technologies, menitoring and assessment of current processes are
necessary to evaluate changing data security risks. The UW System has not fully updated its IT
policies and procedures to address third-party and vendor management risks.

Effect - As a result of the lack of fully developed and implemented policies, there is a risk that
data may be compromised by third-party vendors that handle sensitive data.

Recommendation - In addition to the current process of developing, implementing, and
maintaining a comprehensive IT security program that includes systemwide IT security policies
and procedures, we recommend the implementation of a vendor management policy to
specifically call out how existing vendors are ranked based on risk and sensitivity. In addition,
management should continue to develop standards and procedures for the ongoing
assessment of third parties identified to handle sensitive data.
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Schedule of Findings and Responses (Continued)

Reference
Number

Year Ended June 30, 2019

Finding

Views of Responsible Officials - The UW Systems information security program includes
policy and procedure development and implementation in the areas of vendor management,
data privacy, information security risk management, and IT asset management. Each of these
is in varying stages of analysis and vetting throughout functional areas of the UW System.
Specific items related to vendor risk management and assessment include:

« VVendor risk assessments - UW System Administration performs risk assessments for newly
proposed IT systems. The process includes examining vendor-supplied documents, as well as
completed tools such as the EDUCAUSE HECVAT, SOC reports, and ISO certifications. The
result is an assessment of appropriate security controls and suitability for use within the UW
System’s environment. These assessments are documented in memorandums for the record,
which are stored in a cloud collaboration platform.

« \endor risk assessment policy - This policy is in draft and outlines the minimum requirements
for conducting risk assessments of all vendors that will handle sensitive data. Additionally, the
draft policy outlines contractual information security requirements. This policy will be routed to
the institutions' security personnel for discussion and vetting on December 8, 2019,

Furthermore, the UW System's Office of Information Security, in conjunction with the UW-
Madison Office of Cybersecurity, initiated discussions with a solution provider that provides a
risk score card for third-party vendors. This solution gives the UW System the ability to rank
existing vendors based on risk and sensitivity. This engagement is in progress.
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December 16, 2019

To the Board of Regents
University of Wisconsin System

We have audited the financial statements of the University of Wisconsin System (the “"UW
System”} as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019 and have issued our repott thereon dated
December 18, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide you with the following
information related to our audit.

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated May 15, 2019, our responsibility, as described by
professional standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared
by management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not
relieve you or management of your responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the UW System. Such considerations
were solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance
concerning such internal control.

We are responsibie for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting
process. However, we are not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

Our audit of the UW System’s financial statements has also been conducted in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Under
Government Auditing Standards, we are obligated to communicate certain matters that come to
our attention related to our audit to those responsible for the governance of the UW System,
including compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements,
certain instances of error or fraud, illegal acts applicable to government agencies, and significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. Toward this end, we issued a
separate letter dated December 16, 2019 regarding our consideration of the UW System’s internal
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to
you in our meeting about planning matters on June 6, 2019.
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To the Board of Regents December 16, 2019
University of Wisconsin System

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In
accordance with the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the
appropriateness of accounting policies and their application. The significant accounting policies
used by the UW System are described in Note 1 to the financial statements.

No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies was not
changed during 2019, except for the adoption of GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset
Retirement Obligations, and GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt,
including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, as discussed in Note 1.

We noted no transactions entered into by the UW System during the year for which there is a lack
of authoritative guidance or consensus.

There are no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a
different period than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management
and are based on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements are summarized below:

e Student Accounts Receivable Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts - Management's
estimate of the allowance is based on historical collectibility of student accounts and loans
receivable balances.

» Valuation of Alternative Investments - Management's estimate of the fair value of
alternative investments, in the absence of readily determinable fair values, is based upon
information provided by fund managers or general partners.

» Contingent Liabilities - The UW System is covered by the State of Wisconsin’s self-funded
program with settlements or judgments paid from the State Risk Management Fund. Loss
experience is charged back to the individual University of Wisconsin institutions in subsequent
years based on exposure and experience with caps in place for large losses. It is the opinion
of in-house legal counsel and university management that the disposition of all pending
litigation would not have a material adverse effect on the UW System’s financial position.

« Net Pension and OPEB Liabilities - Management's estimate of the unfunded liabilities for
the pension plans and OPEB plans was calculated using information provided by the plans
and their auditors. The independent actuaries of the plans used a number of
assumptions to determine the overall unfunded liabilities of the plans.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the above estimates in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neufral, consistent, and clear,




To the Board of Regents December 16, 2019
University of Wisconsin System

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and
completing our audit. :

Disagreements with Management

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as
a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction,
that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report.

We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level
of management. The following are items that were identified fo be recorded or disclosed as of
June 30, 2019:

« Inclusion of potential compenent units that were not considered as discretely presented
component units with net position of approximately $131 million

» Restricted cash and related long-term debt of $65.4 million related to a crossover refunding
in which the debt is not yet cailable. The UW System treated the fransaction as an in-
substance defeasance and has disclosed the treatment within the footnotes.

o Approximate liability of $12.9 million for accounts payable not recorded due to the uw
System’s policy of recording only invoices received and posted through July 31, 2019

Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually and in the
aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and
auditing standards, business conditions affecting the UW System, and business plans and
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to
our retention as the UW System’s auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal
course of our professional relationship, and our responses were not a condition of our retention,

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated December 16, 2019.




To the Board of Regents ' December 16, 2019
University of Wisconsin System

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinicn” on certain situations, If a consultation
involves application of an accounting principle to the UW System’s financial statements or a
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with
other accountants.

We would like to take this opporiunity to thank the UW System’s staff for the cooperation and
courtesy extended to us during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism are invaluable.

This report is intended solely for the use of the board of regents and management of the UW
System and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following communications, and we would
be willing to discuss any of these or other guestions that you might have at your convenience.

Very truly yours,

Plante & Moran, PLLC
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Vicki L. VanDenBerg, CPA
Pariner




